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1GOVERNANCE REPORTS
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PRESIDENT’S 
REPORT

The 2018-19 financial year has been an extremely busy year 
for RANZCO as we developed and introduced numerous 
changes to meet the requirements of the AMC and other 
regulators; plan for a sustainable future for the College 
and the profession and ensure we are able to meet the 
changing needs of ophthalmologists, patients and the 
wider populations of Australia and New Zealand.

A focus over the year has been the reform of much of 
our education system, from selection and vocational 
training through to professional development and 
practice accreditation. These reforms have been ably led 
by RANZCO’s Censor-in-Chief, Dr Justin Mora; our recent 
Dean of Education, Dr Catherine Green OA and RANZCO’s 
new Head of Education, Victoria Baker-Smith, supported 
by the education team and members of the education 
committees.

Assessing RANZCO’s strategic and operational priorities 
has been a focus for the Board and RANZCO CEO, Dr David 
Andrews, with the aim of ensuring the sustainability and 
relevance of the College for future generations. 

The focus on the future of the College comes as we 
celebrate the past. This year, 2019, marks the fiftieth year 
of the College, which has provided us with an excellent 
opportunity to celebrate the achievements of the past 
fifty years and examine how we can continue this success 
into the future. With this in mind, a new RANZCO working 
group, the Future of Ophthalmology Taskforce, has been 
formed to examine how developments such as artificial 
intelligence and other technological innovations will 
shape ophthalmic practice in the future and to advise the 
Qualification and Education Committee (QEC) how our 
education system needs to account for these changes. The 
Taskforce, which is chaired by Clinical A/Prof Nitin Verma, 
also aims to develop a 2050 vision for RANZCO. This vision 
will feed into strategic planning for the College to ensure 
that we are ready to meet the challenges of the future. 

A great deal of work has also happened in the background 
to ensure that the RANZCO IT offering is fit for purpose and 
future proofed. This has meant redesigning a number of 
platforms that are used by staff and members, including 
a new Learning Management System (launched April 
2019); a new RANZCO website (launched in June 2019); 

the RANZCO Management System (record keeping 
software used by RANZCO staff ); the Personalised 
Dashboard for RANZCO members; an Enhanced 
Examination Platform; an Online Work Based Assessment 
Platform and the RANZCO e-Diary, which includes the new 
Surgical Logbook and the new CPD Diary. The first of these 
new platforms have been launched while the remaining 
platforms are well underway and due to be launched later 
in 2019.

Another focus over the financial year has been on 
inclusivity and representation. As RANZCO’s first female 
President, I have been honoured to work with the Women 
in Ophthalmology Group, chaired by Dr Genevieve 
Oliver. The Group has determined a strong mandate for 
activity through a consultation process which fed into 
their first strategic plan, launched earlier this year. The 
group will focus on increasing representation of female 
ophthalmologists at events, increasing recognition of the 
achievements of women in the field of ophthalmology and 
strengthening networks to provide support for women at 
all stages of their ophthalmology career.

Also on the theme of inclusivity and representation, 
RANZCO has commenced work on our Reconciliation 
Action Plan (RAP) to ensure the College has a framework 
for developing respectful relationships and creating 
meaningful opportunities with Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples within the context of ophthalmology 
training and practice. With this in mind, the selection 
process has also been reformed to better encourage 
participation of Indigenous doctor in our training program.

All of this activity and the broader work of the College 
would not be possible without the contributions of 
both RANZCO staff and the many RANZCO Fellows 
and associates who enthusiastically give their time and 
expertise to drive the work of the College and help us to 
achieve our aim of providing the best possible care to the 
people who rely on ophthalmology services in Australia, 
New Zealand and further afield.

Clinical A/Prof Heather Mack
President
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CENSOR-IN-
CHIEF’S REPORT

The 2018-19 financial year saw a great deal of change in 
RANZCO’s education system driven in part by the Australian 
Medical Council (AMC) accreditation process. Over the past 
year, the education team has continued to work hard to 
address the issues raised by the AMC and our final report 
back to them has been submitted. We will meet with them 
later in 2019 to go through our progress and further plans. 

The main outstanding items relate to the curriculum and, 
while we have not completed all of the required changes, 
we have documented how we plan to implement these 
revisions as the new vocational training program (VTP) is 
rolled out in 2021. 

One area of significant change over the past year has been 
the selection process, which the AMC had identified as 
needing more transparency and a greater focus on bringing 
Indigenous trainees into ophthalmology. We also needed 
to address a long-standing shortage of ophthalmologists in 
regional Australia. The design of the selection process took 
all of these considerations into account.

The new bi-national selection process, which is now in 
place, ensures that applications are de-identified as much 
as possible and scored by separate groups within the 
Selection Committee. The applications are scored on the 
following criteria and percentages:

• Medical expertise – 24% (work experience and 
references)

• Scholarship – 6% (research and references)
• Rurality – 5% (rural upbringing or work experience)
• Indigeneity – 5% (identifying as Aboriginal, Torres Strait 

Islander, Māori or Pasifika – verified by membership of 
the relevant medical organisation)

• Other attributes (5%)
• CanMeds 10% – (references)

Situational judgement tests (SJTs) (20%) and Multiple 
mini-interviews (MMIs) (25%) have also been introduced. 
SJTs test behaviour in clinical situations and assess 
aspects of professionalism including collaboration, 
communication, health advocacy and leadership. MMIs test 
both professionalism and scholarship. Both SJTs and MMIs 
are well validated tools used by an increasing number of 
Colleges. 

When all of these assessments are complete, a final pool 
of applicants is provided to the network selection panels 
along with all the data gathered during the bi-national 
process. The network panels then use this information 
and other material they wish to collect to rank their 
preferred candidates. The National Ophthalmic Matching 
Program (NOMP) then allocates trainees to centres as 
usual. 

The implementation of the new selection process 
has been a great success so far. This could not have 
been achieved without the expertise and unwavering 
encouragement of Prof Margaret Hay and her team from 
Monash University and the enthusiasm and insights of 
Dr Catherine Green OA. The Selection Board, in particular 
the Selection Board Chair, Dr Michael Merriman, and the 
RANZCO education team should also be proud of the 
outstanding work they put in to making this happen.

I am confident that this is a major step forward for 
RANZCO and will help us select the best trainees for the 
years ahead.

The 2018-19 financial year also saw us begin the 
development of a regional training network, under the 
stewardship of Dr Kristin Bell (QEC Chair), Dr Randev 
Mendis (DoT) and Gerhard Schlenther (RANZCO’s 
General Manager of Policy and Projects) with input from 
many enthusiastic College Fellows including Prof Angus 
Turner, Dr Michael Hennessey, Dr Ashish Agar, Dr Bob 
Griffits and Prof Glen Gole’s training site accreditation 
team. The focus initially is on working out how training 
positions might be funded. Dr Bell is gathering 
information about what might be available from federal 
and state agencies and looking at the tools people are 
already using to fund positions in rural centres. The hope 
is to have several models available to help guide and 
encourage potential training sites.

This year we also launched a new policy to help support 
trainees in difficulty, the Trainee Performance Support 
Policy, which aims to ensure earlier identification of and 
intervention for any problems. This is an interim policy in 
that will need to change again under the new VTP. 

The revision of the VTP is currently underway. As part of 
the revision process, we have confirmed the following 
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key competencies, which will act as the 
scaffold for training and ensure that the 
VTP meets the needs of the future.

1. Medical Expert – ophthalmic 
knowledge and surgical expertise.

2. Scholar.

3. Professional – professional, 
collaborator, communicator, manager/
leader and health advocate and we 
have added culturally safe.

Selection is now more closely aligned to 
these key competencies with an increased 
emphasis on professional attributes in the 
short-listing phase.

Relevant stakeholders have had input 
into the proposed revision of the VTP and 
it has been approved by the Board and 
QEC. Dr Catherine Green AO, as Chair of 
the Curriculum Committee, has made an 
enormous and invaluable contribution 
in promoting and driving many of these 
changes. The Curriculum Committee 
members also made an outstanding 
contribution over the year, as did the Chairs 
of the Examination Boards and RANZCO’s 
Head of Education, Victoria Baker-Smith. 

Overall, the 2018-19 financial year 
has been one of great change and 
development, all of which puts RANZCO 
in a stronger position to ensure that we 
continue to produce some of the best 
ophthalmologists in the world. We could 
not have achieved all that we have without 
the dedication and commitment of 
RANZCO staff and members, including all 
those mentioned above as well as a whole 
host of others. 

Dr Justin Mora
RANZCO Censor-in-Chief

The RANZCO competencies ‘flower’

 Ophthalmic
 knowledge &

surgical skill

Professional, 
communicator, 

collaborator, leader/
manager, health 

advocate, culturally 
competent

Scholar

Competent
general 

ophthalmologist
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CEO’S 
REPORT

The 2018-19 financial year not only saw implementation 
and consolidation of changes in governance and 
education, but also the launch of big projects in IT and 
more in education. These are exciting projects which 
will ultimately place RANZCO in a better position to 
meet ever increasing expectations from regulators, the 
eye care community and members. Fortunately, the 
College is in a strong financial position to meet these 
challenges, but much of the work requires intellectual 
expertise from Fellows and staff and can’t be solved 
with money alone. My observation is that many Fellows 
provide a lot of input, with a handful seeming to work 
a second job for RANZCO. I would like to thank you 
all, and also acknowledge the staff who have spent 
many extra hours on projects this year to ensure their 
success. The dedication is extraordinary.

In late 2019 we will undergo a 3-year review of our 
Australian Medical Council/Medical Council of New 
Zealand accreditation. Over the past three years we 
have been working hard to meet the conditions 
required after the last accreditation. During this process 
it became apparent that the way in which we provide 
training, and measure the success of this, will need 
to change. The construction of a new curriculum 
and associated syllabus is taking much longer than 
expected due to the complexity of all parts that need 
to change in unison. Examinations will change, work-
based assessments will become more formalised and 
much of the training will be recorded and examined 
online. All this will require training of supervisors as well 
as clear policies and processes. As a small College with 
a relatively small group of volunteer Fellows working 
with staff, there is a lot to do. I believe we are placed to 
meet the requirements and challenges of accreditation, 
but probably not at the pace everyone would like. The 
professionalisation of post-graduate medical training 
across the whole sector does mean that finding the 
right people for RANZCO does take time. In order to get 
the best result, we will make haste slowly. 

Tied in with accreditation has been the complete 
redevelopment of our back-end IT systems and public 
facing website. This project was a result of the need to 
do almost everything online, and have most processes 

linked to our centralised database. The system and 
website we have had in place for four years was not 
up to the task and needed regular high-level expertise 
to make any changes. By the time this report is read 
we will have launched our new website, members 
portal and back end business management system. 
I’m sure it will be far easier for all to use and it has 
been designed so that staff can easily make changes. 
However, this is not a project that will ever really finish 
as we will continuously improve the online interactions, 
learning management system and make it work with 
mobile devices. As the requirements of regulators 
and expectations of users change, we will need to 
change the system. It has been a big shift in thinking 
internally to put in place a senior person responsible 
for Business Systems, being Craig Dowling who was 
formerly General Manager of Education. It reflects that 
like the rest of the world, RANZCO needs to think and 
act digitally. Over the course of the next year I expect 
a number of processes previously done manually 
will only be available online and members will need 
to adapt to this. As a small College we do not have 
unlimited resources to replicate processes nor should 
we if we are to take full advantage of the investments 
made.

It has not only been regulators that kept us busy during 
the year. There was an increase in the interaction and 
submissions to government departments in both 
countries - with 52 submissions made, almost all to 
government or agencies. I take it as a positive reflection 
on how we are viewed that we are asked to comment 
so frequently. But averaging one per week does take 
a lot of work from Fellows, who are mostly providing 
expert content, and staff who pull it all together. Many 
of the submissions required detailed analysis and 
follow-up meetings. Again, I do not see this decreasing 
and it will affect how we manage this sort of work in 
the future.

As reported elsewhere, the Congress in Adelaide was 
by all accounts a huge success. Simple measures like 
attendance and revenue were very good, but the 
feedback I have was the quality of program continues 
to get better, the numerous College committee 
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meetings were highly productive, and the social events 
built excellent collegiality. I thank the dedicated events 
and the Scientific Program Committee which must 
make difficult decisions about content as the number 
and quality of submissions increase each year. This is 
probably the best measure of success. 

Finally, I wish to acknowledge the contribution of Mark 
Daniell who finished his term as President in November 
2018. Over the two years I worked with Mark I found his 

clear thinking and calm demeanour an example to lead 
the College. His push to ensure we meet governance 
expectations of members and regulators has been 
passed onto Heather Mack as our first female President 
and we will continue to see the benefits of this work.

Dr David Andrews
RANZCO CEO

A/Prof Mark Daniell speaking at the 2018 RANZCO Annual Scientific Congress



10 - RANZCO ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

2ACHIEVING OUR STRATEGIC GOAL
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OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Represent, 
support and 
foster our 
members’ 
interests; 
and build 

engagement, 
ownership and 

collegiality 
among them.

Set, monitor 
and maintain 
standards for 

the provision of 
highest quality 
ophthalmology 

practice in 
Australia and 
New Zealand.

Deliver superior 
service and 
value to our 
members, 

partners and 
stakeholders to 
ensure ongoing 
sustainability.

Facilitate the 
highest quality 

practice of 
ophthalmology 

through 
evidence based 

education, 
training and 

accreditation.

Lead the policy 
debate as 

the trusted, 
authoritative 

source of 
information 

and research; 
and promote 

ophthalmology 
as a medical 

specialty, body 
of knowledge 
and career.

EDUCATION, 
TRAINING & 

ACCREDITATION

ADVOCACY & 
AWARENESS

MEMBER 
ENGAGEMENT STANDARDS COLLEGE 

ACTIVITIES

RANZCO will realise its vision and deliver on its mission by way of 
five strategic priorities, all underpinned by our commitment to 

ethics and achieved through collaboration.

All College activities are designed to meet our five strategic priorities, which are focused on 
delivering the highest quality eye healthcare for all through collaboration with stakeholders 
within the health sector and externally. Our strategic priorities aim to strengthen our position 
as a global leader in eye care education and training, and in setting eye health policy and 
standards.
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Education is the core function of the College and as such it 
is a major focus of the work of RANZCO staff and the Fellows 
who dedicate their time to serve on the Board, the Council and 
committees or otherwise volunteer their time to support RANZCO’s 
work. 

Last year, we began a comprehensive review of our education and 
training program to ensure we are in the best possible position to 
continue producing some of the world’s best ophthalmologists 
and to meet the needs of people in Australia and New Zealand into 
the future. This review included our selection process, our learning 
resources, our curriculum and our training accreditation standards. 
This year, much of that work progressed and came to fruition. 

The Curriculum Development Project 
The Curriculum Development Project commenced in 2017 to 
fulfil the objectives set out in RANZCO’s Strategic Priority One and 
to meet the Australian Medical Council’s (AMC’s) accreditation 
standards. 

The project aims to ensure the curriculum for the vocational 
training program (VTP) supports trainees in developing the 
attitudes, skills and knowledge required to enter practice as 
competent general ophthalmologists. The Curriculum Committee 
was established in October 2017 with Prof David Prideaux engaged 
to inform the project and Dr Catherine Green AO, RANZCO’s Dean 
of Education, tasked with leading the project. 

Selection 
RANZCO’s new centralised process for selection of trainees, 
developed by RANZCO’s Selection Board, was implemented in 
2019, with shortlisting and multiple mini interviews (MMIs) being 
undertaken centrally. New measures to increase the anonymity 
of candidates were also introduced. This includes the removal 
of personal statements from CVs and the de-identification of 
applications by name and gender for as much of the process 
as practical. Online situational judgement tests (SJTs) were also 
introduced to assess applicants’ behaviour in scenarios relevant to 
their early medical experience, focussing on the CANMeds domains 
of Professional and Collaborator. The results of the STJs feed into the 
selection assessment and decision-making process. 

The number of referees required for each application has been 
increased from five to seven. These references are linked to the 
applicant’s work history to provide greater clarity about their 
performance and experience in medicine. 

To ensure transparency and consistency in the selection process, 
the weightings for selection are now set centrally and published. In 
2019 the weightings were: 

Curriculum vitae 20% – scholar 5%, rural exposure 5%, 
indigeneity 5%, and other attributes 5%  

References 35% – medical expert 24%, scholar 1%, and 
professional attributes (communicator, collaborator, manager, 
health advocate, and professional) 10% 

Situational Judgement Test 20% – professional attributes 20% 

Multiple Mini Interview 25% – medical expert 5% and 
professional attributes 20% 

Strategic 
Priority 

Education, Training 
and Accreditation 
We will facilitate the 
highest quality practice 
of ophthalmology through 
evidence-based education, 
training and accreditation. 

1
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VTP SELECTION

The College received 135 registrations to participate in the 2018 National 
Ophthalmology Matching Program (NOMP) to fill 33 accredited training positions. 

The average age 
of new trainees 
is 29.9

22 (67%) males 

11 (33%) females

Changes were also made to address the shortage of Indigenous doctors in 
ophthalmology and workforce issues in rural areas: 
• An applicant who is a member of the Australian Indigenous Doctors’ 

Association (AIDA), Te ORA (the Māori Medical Practitioners Association) or 
has graduated medicine in New Zealand through the Pacific Island scheme 
(MAPAS) will receive five points in the selection tool. 

• Given evidence indicating that people from rural backgrounds are more 
likely to practice in rural areas when they qualify, applicants can also gain up 
to five points in the selection tool for rurality. Points can be awarded for rural 
upbringing (three points), medical work experience in a rural setting (half 
a point), rural ophthalmic work experience (half a point) or rural focussed 
undergraduate program (half a point). 

135 NOMP
TRAINEES APPOINTED

NZ
NSW
QLD
SA
VIC
WA

29.9
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Trainee Representation and Support
The Trainee Representative Group (TRG) represents trainees’ interests within 
the College and the training environment, with representatives sitting on 
various committees and working groups to provide information and a trainee 
perspective in relation to their activities. In the 2018-19 financial year, the 
TRG expanded its membership from six members to 20 in order to ensure 
adequate representation across all relevant committees and groups. This 
means that instead of one representative per training network, there are now 
three, comprising of one representative from each of the trainee levels: basic, 
advanced and final year (where applicable).

To ensure a robust and fair support structure to assist those who encounter 
difficulty at any stage of the training pathway, in 2018-19 RANZCO developed 
and introduced a Performance Support Policy. The policy ensures that the 
health, welfare and interests of trainees and their right to a safe and supportive 
professional learning environment are prioritised by the College. 

In addition, RANZCO introduced a Flexible Training Policy, in recognition of the 
importance of providing flexible training options and targeted support to help 
our trainees adapt to changes in their lives. 

Specialist International Medical Graduates
RANZCO’s responsibilities include evaluating the training, qualifications and 
experience of Specialist International Medical Graduates (SIMGs) for comparability 
with Australian trained ophthalmologists. For RANZCO, SIMGs represent a vital 
part of our College and we have a strong focus on assisting them in their journey 
to fellowship. With this in mind, in May 2019, RANZCO published a new policy 
designed to structure consistency in the assessment process across Australia by 
applying common criteria and assessment methodology. This new policy will 
come into effect on 15 November 2019.

E-Learning and Online Assessments
The College’s online assessment process was further embedded in the training 
program, with all written exams now being conducted online.

In addition, a major redesign of the College’s IT systems was undertaken, with new 
education tools including a new dashboard for all members, an improved platform 
for our online exams, a new learning management system, a surgical logbook, and 
a new work-based assessment. These new systems are expected to be launched in 
the second half of 2019.

Continuing Professional Development
RANZCO’s focus on education includes not just the training of new 
ophthalmologists through the VTP, but also ensuring that current 
ophthalmologists maintain and update their skills and knowledge through 
Continuing Professional Development (CPD). 

In the 2018-19 financial year, the Continuing Professional Development 
Committee updated the CPD framework to meet the requirements of the MBA 
Professional Performance Framework (PPF) and the updated standards from the 
Medical Council of New Zealand (MCNZ). The CPD handbook was also updated to 
include a general audit guide and Professional Development Plan (PDP) templates 
and procedures were produced. 

PDP templates are now available for all Fellows to use in planning their professional 
development plan for the year. The decision was made to introduce a requirement 
from 2020 for PDPs to be completed by each Fellow as part of the their CPD 
activity. This decision reflects both the standard across most medical colleges and 
the expectation that AHPRA will imminently be introducing this as a requirement. 

As part of the wider IT renovation, development began on a new CPD Diary, 
which is expected to be launched in the second half of 2019.

SIMG & NZ 
APPLICATIONS

Specialist/vocational registration

Area of Need

Partially comparable

Second stage assessment 
(Further requirements)

Equivalent to or satisfactory as (NZ)

Not comparable

Initial assessment (document in review)

NZAUS

1 Jul to 31 Dec 2018 1 Jan to 30 Jun 2019

Total new applicants
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2018 CPD 98% 
c o m p l i a n c e

RCAT is provided to RANZCO Fellows as a member 
benefit and is free to access and use. It currently 

facilitates cataract surgical audit, but other procedures 
will be added in future iterations.

RCAT has a total of 322 users comprised of 310 
Fellows, nine trainees, two CPD customers and one 

orthoptist submitting 14,163 procedures with 8,427 
visual outcomes; and an average visual improvement 

of three lines of 12 ETDRS letters and an average 
refractive outcome of -0.1.

322

14,163 8,427

310 9
RCAT USERS FELLOWS TRAINEES

PROCEDURES VISUAL 
OUTCOMES

an average visual improvement 
of three lines of 12 ETDRS 

letters and an average refractive 
outcome of -0.1.

RCAT
A u d i t   m a d e   e a s y
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Over the 2018-19 financial year, RANZCO undertook 
comprehensive stakeholder engagement, public relations and 
advocacy to ensure focus is given to eye care by political and 
policy decision makers in Australia and New Zealand. This works 
aims to shape eye health policy and raise awareness about issues 
that matter to our members, their patients and the profession 
and to position RANZCO as the trusted, authoritative source of 
information and research in the region.

RANZCO has also been proactive in the international development 
space by supporting capacity building initiatives in low-resource 
settings and addressing health inequalities in developing 
countries as part of our commitment to improving eye care in the 
Asia Pacific region.

Advocacy and Engagement
RANZCO’s Medicare Advisory Committee continued to provide 
advice to the College and members regarding Medicare, including 
changes and amendments to MBS items numbers, regulatory 
matters and related issues of relevance to ophthalmology.

Over the 2018-19 financial year, the Medicare Advisory 
Committee developed after-care period guidelines for surgical 
ophthalmological procedures. They also completed MBS review 
draft report submission on the optometry clinical committee, 
the specialists and consultant physicians consultation clinical 
committee, the allied health reference group and the nurse 
practitioner reference group.

RANZCO’s Therapeutics Committee worked closely with the Board, 
Council and special interest groups (SIGs) to monitor significant 
changes to government legislation and regulation and to keep 
Fellows informed of key changes and their impact on practice. 
The Therapeutics Committee also identified opportunities to 
collaborate with stakeholders on government submissions. 
In response to government regulatory bodies including the 
Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA), the Pharmaceutical 
Benefits Scheme (PBS), the Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory 
Committee (PBAC), the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS), the 
Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) and the Australian 
Department of Health, RANZCO participated in a number of 
consultations and reviews.

Over the 2018-19 financial year, the Therapeutics Committee 
successfully lobbied the TGA to introduce a more robust 
complaints system, with the improved system now allowing 
complaints to be sorted by risk category, responsible person 
and therapeutic good. The Committee also provided advice on a 
number of medicine shortages, processed authorised prescriber 
requests, provided feedback on the treatment of retinal diseases in 
Indigenous Australia and provided assessment of the effect of PBS 
funding changes. 

RANZCO’s government relations activities also raised awareness on 
important eye health issues with federal governments in Australia 
and New Zealand and with state government in Australia. 
This included continued engagement with the New Zealand 
government over public hospital backlogs and cataract waiting 
lists. In Australia, we engaged with the New South Wales Minister 
for Health on cataract waiting lists resulting in a major policy 
forum hosted by the minister to address the problem. RANZCO 
consulted on and developed a proposed model for addressing 
the waiting list problems and coordinated a cohesive approach 

Strategic 
Priority 

Advocacy and 
Awareness 
We will lead the policy debate 
as the trusted, authoritative 
source of information and 
research; and promote 
ophthalmology as a medical 
speciality, body of knowledge 
and career. We will endeavour 
to build capacity in the Asia 
Pacific region. 

2
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by the profession to promote this model. This effort resulted in 
a commitment from the Minister to introduce a number of 
key measures from RANZCO’s proposal. With the government’s 
return to office following a state election, work continues to hold 
the Minister to his commitment and bring about an improvement 
to cataract surgery access for people across New South Wales. We 
were also successful in having eye ball tattooing in NSW outlawed 
except by ophthalmologists for medical need.

Over the year, RANZCO’s Workforce Committee developed 
and disseminated Australian state-specific and New Zealand 
workforce snapshots and mapped the locations and numbers 
of unregistered registrars across Australia. RANZCO continued its 
engagement with the newly formed Australian Medical Workforce 
Reform Advisory Committee by participating in consultations 
to address the maldistribution of the ophthalmic workforce. 
The Committee also conducted a workforce session as part of 
RANZCO’s Annual Scientific Congress in 2018.

Raising Awareness of Eye Health 
and Ophthalmology
In collaboration with RANZCO’s Communications team, 
RANZCO’s Public Health Committee continued to undertake 
awareness raising activities about eye disease to help address 
preventable vision loss and blindness. This included developing 
and promoting patient information resources and a New Zealand 
referral pathway for glaucoma management.

Media activity included promoting sun safety for eyes, 
highlighting the impact of UV on eyes and workplace risks and 
protections for eye health.

RANZCO also focussed on raising awareness among the public 
and the eye health community regarding RANZCO’s 50th year, 
particularly focussing on achievements and innovations over the 
previous 50 years and looking ahead to the next 50.

RANZCO’s member magazine, Eye2Eye, continued to raise 
awareness of key issues affecting ophthalmologists and their 
patients. Over the year there was a focus on health and wellbeing, 
with a particular focus on mental health; eliminating harassment, 
bullying and discrimination; support for trainees and new Fellows 
and workforce distribution issues. 

RANZCO has also further developed a social media offering, 
including the RANZCO blog, allowing the College to share 
information about eye health directly with the public. This 
included highlighting issues such as macula health, UV protection, 
diabetic eye disease, stem cell therapy, glaucoma eye checks 
and artificial intelligence in eye care, among many others. These 
platforms have also been used to support RANZCO’s work in 
areas such as reconciliation and closing the gap, regional and 
international outreach, diversity and inclusion, health and 
wellbeing, and to promote the myriad achievements of RANZCO 
Fellows during the year.

All of RANZCO’s awareness raising work has been kindly 
supported by RANZCO Fellows, who have provided expertise 
and acted as spokespeople for political and media engagement 
activities. To support the Fellows in this role, RANZCO has 
continued to provide media training workshops to train 
RANZCO spokespeople for media interviews and key message 
development.
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Eye Health: Aboriginal, Māori, 
Torres Strait Islander, Pasifika
RANZCO’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Eye 
Health Committee promotes the interests of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people across the work of the 
College, as the Māori and Pasifika Committee does for 
Māori and Pasifika people’s interest, with the aim of 
improving eye health outcomes in Australia and New 
Zealand.

Over the 2018-19 financial year, the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Eye Health Committee increased 
involvement with the Australian Indigenous Doctors’ 
Association (AIDA) including sponsoring the AIDA 2018 
conference, holding a RANZCO workshop to introduce 
potential future trainees and doctors to eye health in a 
primary care context and participating in the Growing 
our Fellows workshop. 

In addition, the Committee welcomed RANZCO’s first 
Indigenous ophthalmologist, Dr Kris Rallah-Baker, as a 
member of the Committee.

The Committee also supported RANZCO’s development 
of its Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), which the College 
endorsed in May 2019. 

The Māori and Pasifika Health Committee, which was 
newly formed in the 2017-18 financial year, developed a 
comprehensive action plan to:

• engage with Māori and Pasifika people (as individuals, 
groups and organisations);

• embed cultural competence throughout RANZCO 
with a particular focus on the training curriculum and 
CPD; and

• seek improvement in Māori and Pasifika eye health 
outcomes through advocacy and awareness.

The Committee further undertook research into the 
barriers Māori and Pasifika trainees experience in accessing 
the program and worked on cultural competence issues 
pertaining to trainees, selection and CPD matters. 

Improving Standards and 
Increasing Capacity in the Asia 
Pacific Region
RANZCO’s work on international development is 
coordinated by the International Development 
Committee (IDC) and focuses on capacity building 
initiatives in the Asia Pacific Region. Over the 2018-19 
financial year, this included completing the Pacific Eye 
Institute (PEI) Curriculum Review and commencing the 
Papua New Guinea (PNG) Curriculum Implementation. 
The Committee also conducted two PNG Train the Trainers 
workshops and seven teaching visits, signing an MoU 
with UNICEF and implementing a UNICEF and RANZCO 
retinopathy of prematurity workshop in PNG. 

RANZCO signed separate MoUs with University of 
Kebansaan, with the agreement to explore collaborative 
activities such as examiner visits; teaching and learning 
opportunities; discussion on curriculum review and 
related collaboration and organisation of joint academic 
activities such as courses, conferences, lectures. 
Additionally, RANZCO commenced a PacEyes capacity 
strengthening project, the Pacific LINKS program.

RANZCO also provided scholarships for ophthalmologists 
from the Asia Pacific region to attend RANZCO Congress 
and take part in an international development workshop. 
The 2018 international development workshop was run 
in collaboration with RANZCO Special Interest Group the 
Australian and New Zealand Glaucoma Society (ANZGS) 
and focussed on The Glaucomas: Managing Chronic 
Ophthalmic Disease in Low Resource Settings.

Pictured left: Dr Kris Rallah-Baker checks the 
sight of Moses Silver of Mulgin Community, 
Mataranka, at Sunrise Health Service Aboriginal 
Corporation. Photo: Michael Amendolia

EMBED
SEEK

ENGAGE
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Energy, enthusiasm and commitment best describe the many 
groups and committees working hard to contribute to the 
role of RANZCO as leaders in collaborative eye care. Working 
collaboratively to engage and promote collegiality amongst the 
Fellowship ensures we remain truly representative of the entire 
ophthalmology specialty. 

Annual Scientific Congress
In 2018, RANZCO’s 50th Annual Scientific Congress took place in 
Adelaide, South Australia for the first time in several years. With 
a focus on 50 years of innovative, ground-breaking and dynamic 
science, there was much to celebrate. We welcomed delegates 
from across Australia and New Zealand, as well as guests from 
Asia Pacific nations and beyond; highlighting RANZCO’s place as 
a true regional leader. The Scientific Program Committee worked 
tirelessly to produce a broad spectrum of content for attendees, 
with a specific focus on diversity. We saw sessions, workshops 
and forums with strong representation from both Australia and 
New Zealand and all sub-specialties. For the first time 50 percent 
of sessions chairs were female. This is an important achievement 
and it sets the benchmark for future RANZCO congresses. We 
also introduced crèche at Congress in Adelaide which was well 
received. 

The Local Convenor was Adelaide Fellow Dr Neil Gehling, with 
support and input from the South Australia Branch. The Scientific 
Program Committee was ably led by Dr Christine Younan from 
New South Wales.

739 RANZCO FELLOWS

Ophthalmologists from the 
region and further abroad 

Practice Managers and associated 
practice staff 

Orthoptists, Nurses, Vision 
Scientists, local and international 
allied health practitioners

RANZCO Registrars, Junior Medical 
Doctors and those seeking a career 
in ophthalmology 

Accompanying Partners

2018 RANZCO CONGRESS 
DELEGATE BREAKDOWN 

Member 
Engagement 
We will represent, support and 
foster our members’ interests; 
and build engagement, 
ownership and collegiality 
among them. 

72

131

312

98

36

Strategic 
Priority 3
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Congress Prize Winners 
Gerard Crock Award
Award for Best Paper presentation   
Prof Robyn Guymer AM

John Parr Trophy Award
Award for Best Paper presentation   
Dr Jack Ao

Best Poster Award
Mr Callum Narita

Best Community Ophthalmology 
Film
Dr Aisling McGlacken-Byrne

Best Surgical Technique Film
Dr Alexander Newman

Best Overall Film
Dr Alexander Newman

Best CPD Audit
Dr Alice Dutton

INVITED SPEAKERS
NAMED LECTURES 

Council Lecture: 
Prof Stephanie Watson

Sir Norman Gregg Lecture: 
Prof Robyn Guymer AM

Dame Ida Mann Lecture: 
Prof Russell N Van Gelder, MD

Fred Hollows Lecture: 
A/Prof Angus Turner 

UPDATE LECTURES 
Glaucoma: 

Marlene R Moster, MD
Retina: 

Prof Giovanni Staurengh 
Cataract: 

Ramin Salouti, MD 
Cornea:

 J Bradley Randleman, MD 
Uveitis: 

Prof Russell N Van Gelder, MD

Chairs 37 36

Invited Speakers 3 5

Speakers 74 115
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College Medals and Awards

College Medal
Dr Richard Stawell
Dr Peter O’Connor

Distinguished Service Award
Dr Nicholas Downie

Distinguished Service Award for Service 
to International Development
Dr Peter Cooper

Distinguished Service Award for Service 
to Indigenous, Māori & Pasifika Peoples
Dr Timothy Henderson

Honorary Fellowship
Prof Keryn Williams

The Filipic Greer Medal
For overall excellence in the Ophthalmic Pathology 
examination

Dr Thomas Campbell (Semester 2, 2018)

The KG Howsam Medal
For overall excellence in the RANZCO Advanced Clinical 
Examination (RACE)

Dr Phoebe Moore (Semester 2, 2018)
Dr Jaskirat Aujla (Semester 1, 2019)

Trainers of Excellence
Dr Ashish Agar
Dr Chandrakumar Balaratnasingam
Dr Antony Bedggood
Prof Robert Casson
Dr Stephen Guest
Dr Alex Harper
Dr Fraser Imrie
Dr Sharon Morris
Dr Stephen Ng
Dr Constantinos Petsoglou
Dr Keith Small
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College 
Medals & 
Awards 

Other Awards and Honours
New Years’ Honours – New Zealand
Dr Dianne Margaret Elliott (Dianne Sharp) awarded 
Officer (ONZM) for services to ophthalmology.

Australia Day 2019 Honours
Dr Craig Donaldson awarded Member (AM) in the General 
Division of the Order of Australia for significant service to 
medicine in the field of ophthalmology and to professional 
eye health bodies. 

Queen’s Birthday 2019 Honours
Officer (AO) in the General Division
Prof David Mackey for distinguished service to medicine, 
and to medical education, in the field of ophthalmology, as a 
clinician scientist and academic.

Member (AM) in the General Division 
Dr Joseph Reich for significant service to ophthalmology.

Prof Dao-Yi Yu for significant service to ophthalmology, 
and to education.

Medal (OAM) in the General Division
Dr Michael Scobie for service to ophthalmology, and to 
the community.

Dr William Nardi for service to medicine in the field of 
ophthalmology.

The New Zealand Order of Merit (ONZM)
Prof Charles McGhee for services to ophthalmology.
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Group Reports
The RANZCO groups represent and demonstrate the 
dynamic nature of the RANZCO membership, working 
collectively to share ideas and experiences; and promoting 
the interests of female Fellows, younger Fellows, older and 
retired Fellows and practice managers. Each group develop 
activities and initiatives for important College meetings, 
including the various branch meetings and Congress, to 
provide insight from that sector of the fellowship. 

Women in Ophthalmology Advisory Group
Over the 2018-19 year, the Women in Ophthalmology 
Advisory Group undertook several engagement activities. 
At Congress in Adelaide they ran the “Outspoken Women 
Masterclass” to assist female Fellows and trainees on public 
speaking, with a focus on how to use the power of influence, 
messaging, and body language for maximum impact. The 
session also looked at (1) learning how to better articulate 
an argument, (2) presentation skills and (3) negotiation skills. 
The session was very well received, and the group looks 
forward to offering this again at future congresses. 

The group hosted the Women in Ophthalmology Lunch at 
Congress, providing an excellent platform to determine 
and inform the mandate and purpose of the Advisory 
Group. The main aim is to represent all our female Fellows 
and trainees. The outcome of the lunchtime discussions 
certainly served as a compass to determine the strategic 
direction of the Group. The three main aims of the strategic 
plan include:

 J Awareness - increase the representation of female 
ophthalmologists at the podium.

 J Recognition - increase recognition of the achievements 
of women in the field of ophthalmology.

 J Engagement - strengthen networks to provide support 
for women at all stages of their ophthalmology career.

The Group adjusted its structure around the three 
pillars of the Strategic Plan and created roles for Branch 
Representatives. As a result, branches began hosting local 
events and they also embarked on an ongoing relationship 
with industry supporters to further enhance the 
opportunity for broader reaching programs and initiatives. 
Advisory Group member, Dr Zoe Gao represented the WiO 
with a keynote address and was a panel contributor at the 
Tasmanian Women in Medicine event in August 2018. The 
Victorian and South Australian Branches hosted informal 
dinners.

The Group also mobilised to nominate female speakers to 
be invited for the 2019 Congress. The 2018 Congress saw for 
the first time, a gender balance in the selection of session 
Chairs. This is testament to the commitment to gender 
equity by the Scientific Program Committee.

Younger Fellows Advisory Group
Representing Fellows in their first 10 years of fellowship, 
the Younger Fellows’ Advisory Group held several 
events during the year, including sponsored forums 
discussing mitigating risk, business management 

sessions, media training and networking drinks at branch 
meetings. 

At the 2018 RANZCO Congress, the Younger Fellows Advisory 
Group hosted a very well attended dinner. This included 
a fascinating talk from Dr Kwon Kang from Sydney who 
talked about his involvement in humanitarian work with 
the Myanmar Eye Care Project. The Group also presented a 
course “Trials and Triumphs” chaired by Dr Kenneth Chan that 
included a Medicare Q&A session covering common pitfalls 
and confusions on billing practices by Dr Brad Horsburgh. 
A Medicolegal update included case reports from Mr 
Timothy Bowen. There was also a focus on International and 
Indigenous ophthalmology development from the Sight 
for All Foundation’s Prof Robert Casson. A/Prof Lyndell Lim 
discussed the skills for success: Leadership in practice.

In other activities, the Group successfully finalised the 
welcome pack covering a broad range of news, links and 
information for newly admitted Fellows (including basics in 
work arrangements, medical insurance etc). To date, every 
new Fellow now receives this welcome pack.

Currently the group is working productively to develop 
a proposed one day “Survive and Thrive” professional 
development workshop with an emphasis on experienced 
Fellows imparting knowledge and experience on to new 
Fellows, networking and knowledge sharing. Senior trainees 

RANZCO’s Practice Managers’ Group meeting at 2018 RANZCO Congress



RANZCO ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 - 25

will be invited to this as well. We will seek CPD accreditation 
for attendees and presenters alike.

The Group is currently seeking industry support for 
the Educational Travel Scholarship to assist younger 
Fellows to attend and present at international events. 
We see this as an important initiative to help our newest 
Fellows gain international exposure and recognition as the 
next generation of ophthalmology leaders, teachers and 
innovators on the global stage.

Senior and Retired Fellows Group
Representing Fellows who are over 70 and/or retired, the 
Senior and Retired Fellows Group had a successful and 
happy meeting in Adelaide for the 2018 Congress. The Senior 
and Retired Fellows’ Lounge area was well situated, allowing 
Fellows to take in all of the energy of the trade hall whilst 
relaxing in their own designated area. The lunchtime lectures 
provided a nice balance between the past and the future. 
The Senior and Retired Fellows’ dinner provided a fabulous 
opportunity for Fellows and their partners to reminisce and 
enjoy some fine dining and entertainment. 

Practice Managers Group
The RANZCO Practice Managers’ Group held another 
very successful conference in Adelaide this year with 

a balance of local and interstate experts. There was 
ample opportunity for interaction between and during 
sessions. Several very interactive discussions took place, 
informed by diverse original research with varying levels 
of knowledge and experience within a comprehensive 
program. Delegates included practice managers, 
administrators, receptionists, managers, CEOs, clinical 
nurses, directors, ophthalmic assistants as well as other 
allied health professionals from Australia, New Zealand 
and beyond. 

Presentations covered topics such as scripting 
management; KPIs; leadership skills; effective delegation, 
supervising and management; human resource 
issues; benchmarking; data breach and privacy law 
reform; practice accreditation; medical marketing; 
compliance system; payment and claiming; digital data; 
customer service; working with different generations; 
environmental sustainability; practice management; 
health record software and much more. Importantly, 
there was a Medicare session with the RANZCO Medicare 
Advisory Committee represented by Dr Bill Glasson and 
Dr Clayton Barnes. The conference was a great success 
certainly setting a high standard for years to come.

Groups
Women in Ophthalmology Advisory Group

Younger Fellows Advisory Group
Senior and Retired Fellows’ Group

Practice Managers’ Group



26 - RANZCO ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

RANZCO Branch 
Reports
Queensland 
The Annual Scientific Meeting was held once again on 
the Gold Coast in August. It was very well attended 
by local, interstate and overseas ophthalmologists. 
The key theme this year was The Cataract Cornea and 
External Eye Disease Forum covered in depth, relevant 
and practical content for both subspecialist and 
generalist practice. Aside from our Annual Scientific 
Meeting, the Branch remained very focussed on state 
related issues. We also championed local Fellows with 
financial support to continue studies and to carry out 
development work whilst expanding their knowledge 
and experience.  

Key Achievements: 
 J Development of a Nepalese training program 

for local Nepalese surgeons to be trained in 
phacoemulsification surgery. The long-term aim 
of this training is obvious: to create a locally based 
training structure, which aligns with RANZCO’s 
overall priority to build capacity. 

 J The Topham Scholarship program provided 
funding to Dr Anthony Fong for a neuro-
ophthalmology fellowship in the United Kingdom. 
Dr Tom Maloney was also awarded scholarship 
funding. He will be training in anterior segment 
overseas. 

 J Collaboration with Queensland Health and its 
Patient Safety and Quality Improvement Service 
(PSQIS) in developing a public health website to 
access expanded reporting of public and private 
hospitals in Queensland.  

 J Dr Phung Vu became the new Director of the 
Guide Dogs Association Queensland replacing 
Dr Mark Loane after many years of service and 
commitment. 

Tasmania 
The RANZCO Tasmania Branch held its Annual Meeting 
in Hobart on 21 to 23 June 2019, coinciding once 
again with the wonderful Dark Mofo Arts Festival. This 
year the Tasmania branch welcomed the Australia and 
New Zealand Society of Ophthalmic Plastic Surgeons 
(ANZSOPS), RANZCO’s ophthalmic plastic surgery special 
interest group, as joint meeting hosts.

The joint meeting kicked off with a day of oculoplastic 
talks, with a particular focus on practical guides and 
techniques for generalists looking to expand their 
knowledge of these surgical procedures. It was good 
to see speakers from across Australia and New Zealand 
in this session, covering a wide range of conditions 
and procedures including watery eye, epiphora, 
blepharoplasty, adnexal trauma and enucleation, among 

others. This “masterclass” was well attended and had 
close to 50 participants. 

On the first day, a welcome reception was held in the 
evening at Government House, hosted by Tasmanian 
Governor HE Prof Kate Warner. The warm welcome 
speech by the governor and the beautiful venue were 
complemented with excellent canapés and the first taste 
of Government House’s homegrown wine.

The second day commenced with a focus on 
oculoplastics, including a number of interesting case 
presentations. This was followed by the inaugural Bruce 
Hamilton lecture, introduced by Dr Barry Taranto, who had 
worked with Dr Hamilton, and delivered by Prof David 
Mackey. Prof Mackey described how Dr Hamilton’s work 
had been at the forefront of understanding the genetic 
risks associated with glaucoma. He then went on to give 
an overview of the excellent work that he and others 
have done to map the genetic markers for glaucoma and 
introduce genetic screening for those at risk.

The Branch was also pleased to welcome RANZCO’s 
President, Clinical A/Prof Heather Mack, to give a College 
update.

Delegates were then treated to some of Tasmania’s best 
food and wine at the meeting dinner, before heading off 
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into the Dark Mofo festival to experience the arts and 
culture on offer.

The final day of the meeting focused on the future of 
ophthalmology, including talks on the Future of Eye 
Care by Clinical A/Prof Nitin Verma followed by Surgery 
on Mars by Centre for Antarctic, Remote and Maritime 
Medicine’s (CARMM’s) Dr Jeff Ayton. In addition, 
there were plenty of case presentations followed by 
interesting discussions.

The meeting was also well attended by industry 
representatives who also took part in the deliberations.

All in all, it was another successful Tasmanian Branch 
meeting. 

South Australia 
The 2018-19 financial year has been a busy one on 
many fronts for the South Australia Branch committee.

An unbalanced workforce has been an issue of 
importance to the entire membership. The absolute 
number of Fellows in South Australia, adjusted for 
population, is quite high. In 2004 the number of 
Fellows was 59. The resident population in that year 
was approximately 1,500,000. In 2018 the number of 

Fellows sits at 73, an increase of 23%. However, in the 
same period, the population grew to only 12.2%. The 
current ratio of Fellow to population is 1:23,000, which 
represents a very well served society. 

However, the number of specialists serving paediatrics, 
strabismus, neuro-ophthalmology and uveitis is 
alarmingly low. The membership was made aware of 
this concern by the workforce representative, Deepa 
Taranath, at the 2108 AGM. Although we cannot force 
the issue on Fellows, we hope the upcoming junior 
cohort will listen to concerns and put their hand up to 
serve these vital and under-represented areas.

This year has also seen the SA branch and scientific 
committee busy preparing for the 2019 Biennial SA 
Branch Scientific Meeting in Darwin. The meeting is to 
be held at the Darwin Convention Centre, 9-10 August 
2019. The meeting promises something for all Fellows, 
regardless of interest, with up-to-date content in five 
speciality areas and a session.

Queensland
Tasmania

South Australia
Victoria

Western Australia
New Zealand 

New South Wales

Branches
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Victoria 
The RANZCO Victoria Branch has actively engaged with 
the state government and other agencies to provide an 
informed and considered voice regarding patient safety 
and the role ophthalmologists play. The Branch once again 
held its Annual Scientific Meeting in early March at the 
Woodward Centre of the University of Melbourne, catering 
to generalists and sub-specialists alike. The program 
included debate about istent implantation in cataract 
surgery, a fascinating gene therapy presentation from 
newly admitted Fellow of Eminence Prof Keith Martin and a 
College update from President Clinical A/Prof Heather Mack. 

Key Achievements: 

 J Support and commitment ensuring trainee 
exposure to the health care needs and issues of 
Indigenous Australians by sponsoring several 
vocational trainees to spend a week with the 
Lions Vision Van in remote Western Australia or 
attend the Close the Gap for Vision Conference 
in Alice Springs. The aim of this is to encourage 
young ophthalmologists to further close the 
gap on Indigenous eye health. The program has 
been keenly received by registrars with excellent 
feedback after their trips.

 J In depth discussions about health services 
regulations with the (Victorian) Department of 
Health and Human Services, with a focus on the 
safety of performing blepharoplasties in the rooms. 
The Department is keen to ensure that patient 
safety is not compromised due to inadequate 
facilities or monitoring when surgeons perform 
blepharoplasty in their offices. Fellows from the 
Branch provided feedback and reporting about 
occurrences of complications in these settings, 
identifying that such complications are rare. The 
Branch is keen to ensure that patient access to 
services is not restricted by unnecessary regulation. 

Western Australia 
The Branch education program is now well developed with 
two one day meetings in Perth as well as the two day Annual 
Branch meeting, held in Albany this year. The Pathology 
Imaging meeting in September provided an update on 
many new developments in melanoma management, 
the meeting was also the last for our pathologist Tersia 
Vermeulen who, after nearly 20 years of providing significant 
specialist ophthalmic pathology service, was retiring. We 
were privileged to have someone so capable available locally 
and she will be missed. The Inter-Hospitals meeting in March 
and the Branch collective audit was on the clinical use of 
OCT. Dr Jo Richard’s efforts with organising the audit is very 
much appreciated. This year’s Branch Meeting focussed on 
the ‘Future of Ophthalmology’ looking at the developments 
in Artificial Intelligence and the likely impact on ophthalmic 
practice.

Key Achievements:
 J The training program continues to flourish and 

is now supported by a few more service posts to 
enable trainees transitioning into and out of the 
program. The Hobart post has been successfully 
integrated into our program and enjoyed by those 
who rotated through there in the last year. 

 J Development of permanent northwest services is 
looking more assured which means that we should 
be able to establish a rural training program that 
is likely to gradually add another four training 
posts over the next five to six years. WAORS is now 
well established and provides a senior Registrar 
representative on the Branch Committee and has 
held some very popular social events.

 J Branch representatives attended the annual 
Australian Indigenous Doctors Association (AIDA) 
annual meeting in Perth in December promoting 
ophthalmology for the attendees to consider as a 
specialty. We also made representations to the WA 
Health Department responding to the proposed 
Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in 
Health Care Cataract Clinical Care Standard. 

 J David Mackey was awarded an AO this year and 
after a number of years has stepped down as 
Director of the Lion’s Eye Institute to concentrate 
on research. The position is now held by Bill 
Morgan. 

 J The Perth Eye Hospital was sold by the Eye Surgery 
Foundation towards the end of last year and 
the Foundation will now concentrate solely on 
research grants and ophthalmic education and 
development grants for Australia and Developing 
Countries.  
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New Zealand 
The New Zealand Branch had a very busy year in 2018-
19, including a very successful Branch Meeting held at 
the Pullman Hotel in Auckland on 10-11 May 2019. This 
year’s NZ Branch Meeting once again welcomed excellent 
speakers from across New Zealand, Australia and around 
the world. A real highlight of the program were the 
two inaugural named medal lectures. The inaugural Dr 
Dorothy Potter medal lecture, honouring the first and only 
female president of OSNZ, was delivered by Dr Dianne 
Sharp. The inaugural Professor John Parr medal lecture, 
honouring New Zealand’s foremost ophthalmic educator, 
was delivered by Prof Gerard Sutton.

This year also saw a change of leadership in the Branch, 
with Dr Brian Kent-Smith stepping down from his role as 
Branch Chair after two successful years. We would like to 
express our thanks to Brian for the dedication and time 
he put in as Chair. Stepping up to the plate as the New 
Zealand Branch Chair is Dr Peter Hadden, who took over 
from Brian at the AGM in May. 

Key Achievements:
 J The glaucoma collaborative care guidelines were 

released. These were much more contentious 
than the AMD guidelines and required a lot of 
negotiating with the optometric community. 

 J The Māori and Pasifika Health Committee was 
formed. 

 J Vision 2020 has re-formed. The Eye Health Coalition 
is a working group of Vision 2020 and is advocating 
to the government on behalf of the whole eye care 
community.

New South Wales 
The RANZCO NSW Branch has strategically aligned itself 
to RANZCO key initiatives by engaging and supporting 
members through conferences and other development 
activities in order to continually advocate for patients. A 
major focus was the Annual Branch Scientific Meeting held 
in Sydney which brought together the Branch to engage in 
robust discussion, shared learnings and renewed vigour for 
collegiality and collaboration across the membership. 

Key Achievements: 
 J Engagement with NSW Minister for Health, Mr Brad 

Hazzard, in discussing proposed initiatives to deal with 
cataract waiting lists in NSW. 

 J Grants were given for Australian ophthalmic research. 
ORIA was granted $75,000 and A/Prof Andrew White’s 
group received $60,000 to roll out the use of artificial 
intelligence for the screening of diabetic retinopathy 
in general practice and in hospital outpatient 
departments. 

 J Identified and championed issues around 
maldistribution of ophthalmologists with a crowding 
out in the capital cities and a paucity of practitioners 
in regional and rural areas. Dr Ashish Agar has been 
co-opted to the NSW Branch Committee to strengthen 
the rural and Indigenous inputs into the committee, 
which is heavily skewed towards metropolitan Sydney 
in terms of its representation. 

 J Focussed attention and discussion about RANZCO’s 
commitment to closing the gap for health outcomes 
for Indigenous peoples by playing its part in improving 
eye health delivery within the state of NSW. 
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In late 2018, RANZCO submitted a 2018 Progress Report to the 
AMC addressing many of the conditions of the 2016 Accreditation 
requirements. The Progress Report was considered by the AMC’s 
Specialist Education Accreditation Committee who indicated 
they were pleased with the progress to date and noted the 
College’s commitment to engaging with the Indigenous health 
sector and organisations, cultural competence and cultural safety 
practices. Following this, the College engaged with the Australian 
Indigenous Doctors Association to provide Cultural Safety training 
to the Board and Senior Management. 

AMC assessors attended various RANZCO exams in early 2019 and 
indicated the College’s final response should focus on curriculum 
and assessment mapping, Training Post mapping, Training Post 
Accreditation Standards, the changes to selection into training 
policy, updates to the CPD framework and the updated SIMG 
policy. In June 2019, the College provided the AMC with the final 
response to their review.

The Training Post Inspection Committee toured around Australia 
and New Zealand to ensure all training sites meet the RANZCO‘s 
Standards for Ophthalmology Training Posts and Code of Best 
Practice, which were introduced in April 2018. These include 
standards for site facilities, site policy framework, teaching and 
learning facilities, supervision, profile of work, trainees’ surgical 
experience and trainees' clinical experience.

The Professional Standards Committee was commissioned by 
the RANZCO Board to assist Fellows in the development of 
non-clinical skills in ophthalmology. The Board identified a need 
to assist Fellows with non-clinical skills that are required by 
medical specialists, especially in regard to their roles as managers, 
health advocates, scholars, professionals, communicators, 
medical experts/clinical decision makers and collaborators. The 
Committee primarily works to develop and evolve the NUCLEUS 
Program for Practice Accreditation. In 2018-19, in line with 
Version 2 of the NSQHS Standards, the NUCLEUS Program was 
updated with associated templates and resources. A New Zealand 
specific version of NUCLEUS was developed to help practices 
meet certification requirements under NZ Standards 8164. Both 
programs are now available via the RANZCO LMS.

The Professional Standards Committee would like to thank Dr Alex 
Hunyor Snr for his work as Chair of the Committee and welcomes 
Ms Donna Glenn as the first female Chair.

Standards 
We will set, monitor and 
maintain standards for the 
provision of the highest quality 
ophthalmology practice in 
Australia and New Zealand. 

Strategic 
Priority 4
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RANZCO’s Professional Standards Committee oversaw 
the finalisation and launch of Version 2 of the NUCLEUS 
Program, covering both Australia and New Zealand. This 
included launching a new handbook for the Australian 
and the New Zealand NUCLEUS Version 2, including 
workbooks, templates and resources for each Standard. 
The Committee will continue to review Version 2 with the 
aim of incorporating any changes to the NSQHS Standards.

To ensure that RANZCO develops clinical 
practice guidelines consistent with current 
best practice in Australia, New Zealand 
and internationally, RANZCO’s Clinical 
Standards Committee review and update 
individual Clinical Practice Guidelines, 
provide input into submissions in response 
to consultations from peak professional 
bodies, government departments and 
regulators and draft position statements 
for Board review. The key highlights from 
2018-19 include the development of 
Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Use of 
Ocular Steroids, Principles for Collaborative 
Care of Glaucoma Patients with the aim of 
improving patient care and outcomes. We 
also reviewed and commented on the draft 
ACSQHC Cataract Care Clinical Standards 
highlighting the need for reduction in 
patient waiting times, and the importance 
of cataract surgery in improving quality of life.

The Board also approved Diabetic 
Retinopathy Guidelines in October 2018 
and Aftercare periods Guidelines in May 
2019.

Ensuring high standards in each area 
of ophthalmology, RANZCO’s Special 
Interest Groups continue to bring together 
ophthalmologists with a special interest 
in a particular condition or area of the 
eye. These Special Interest Groups advise 
on policy relating to their special interest 
areas, review and disseminate research 
and information resources, and provide 
RANZCO with expert advice on relevant 
practice issues. Over the year, these groups 
have also fed into policy development, 
advocacy activities and media engagement, 
ensuring that the messages that RANZCO 
puts out represent the highest standards of 
practice in each specialist area.

Supported by the Leadership Development 
Committee, the RANZCO Leadership 
Development Program included an Alumni 
event at the 2018 Congress that organised 
and ran a three-day LDP Masterclass in 
Brisbane which was open to all Fellows. 
The Committee members supported the 
current cohort with their projects.

The RANZCO Human research Ethics 
Committee reviews and decides on 
applications for ethics approval and in 
2018-19 worked to ensure its processes 
met the new National Health and Medical 
Research Council (NHMRC) Standards. The 
Committee received confirmation from the 
NHMRC that their standards had been met.

NUCLEUS
PROGRAM

NUCLEUS
PROGRAM

H R E C
11 APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW

4 Approved
2 Withdrawn

5 Under review

Clinical Standards Committee guideline reviews:
 - Ocular Surgery Guidelines for Ensuring Correct 

Patient, Correct Eye, Correct Ste and Correct Procedure
 - Principles for Collaborative Care of Glaucoma Patients
 - Fluorescein and Indocyanine Green Angiography 

Guidelines
 - Infection Control Guidelines
 - Use of Clinical Photography Guidelines
 - Laser Safety Protocol
 - Referral Guidelines for Eye and Vision Problems in 

Infants and Children

TRAINING POSTS INSPECTED
Victorian Metro Network
Victorian Rural Network

Queensland Network
New South Wales North Coast Network

Prince of Wales Network
New Zealand North Island Network
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College Activities 
We will deliver superior 
service and value to our 
members, partners and 
stakeholders to ensure 
ongoing sustainability. 

The Australian and New Zealand 
Eye Foundation (ANZEF)
The Australian and New Zealand Eye Foundation (ANZEF) was 
formed in October 2018. ANZEF is the charitable arm of 
the College and aims to build sustainable eye care in the Asia 
Pacific Region by funding programs that educate doctors and 
nurses to deliver much needed eye care. They can then train 
more health professionals in their home countries, delivering 
sustainable, high quality eye care for the people who need it 
most. 

ANZEF also raises funds for ophthalmic research and for 
outreach projects in Australia and New Zealand. The initial 
objectives of the ANZEF have been to establish a brand 
and raise its profile among the members of the College. Since 
its formation, fundraising licenses were secured across all 
Australian States and New Zealand and donations from Fellows 
and the public have started coming in: $130,000 newly 
raised from Fellow and public donations, plus $100,000 from 
the NSW Branch. The JulEye Campaign has been revitalised for 
July 2019 and close connections established between ANZEF 
and the ORIA and Save Sight Society, New Zealand. 

Strategic 
Priority 

5

The exc lus ive  a i r l ine  par tner  o f  RANZCO 51 st Annual  Sc ient i f i c  Congress 

Australian and New Zealand 
 Eye Foundation 

Help end preventable blindness!

ANZEF aims to build sustainable eye care in 
the Asia Pacific region by funding programs 
that educate doctors and nurses to deliver 
much needed eye care and also raises funds 
for ophthalmic research and for outreach 
projects in Australia and New Zealand.
For more information and to make a tax 
deductible donation visit www.ranzco.edu 
or email anzef@ranzco.edu

ANZEF is the charitable arm of The Royal Australian and 
New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists (RANZCO)

ANZEF
The Australian and New Zealand Eye Foundation

HELP PREVENT AVOIDABLE BLINDNESS
ACROSS AUSTRALIA,NEW ZEALAND

& DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

Total raised since June 2018

raised since January 2019

$342,055

$237,540

Advert that ran in the Qantas magazine for the JULeye campaign
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Archives and Museum
Progress has been made in assessing and cataloguing a 
significant number of documents held at RANZCO Head 
Office as part of the archival process. Concurrently, the 
Archive and Museum Committee, led by Museum Curator, 
Dr David Kaufman, coordinated a large display at the 2018 
Adelaide Congress featuring ivory instruments, peripatetic 
ophthalmologist and their kit, pharmaceuticals, antique vision 
charts, poster display, ocular prosthetics. Dr David Kaufman 
and Committee Member and Chair of the Senior & Retired 
Fellows Group, Prof John Crompton, spoke at the Congress 
on prominent historical and contemporary personalities with 
strabismus. The Jim Martin historical prize was won by Dean 
Cugley for his poster on peripatetic ophthalmology. David 
Kaufman and the Committee are exploring links with the All 
India Ophthalmic Society College, who have expressed a desire 
for help in setting up a similar display and an online museum 
site.

Diversity and Inclusion
RANZCO recognises that it operates in environments 
of complexity; challenges are best overcome, and 
opportunities best leveraged, by the involvement of a 
variety of voices, vantage points, and expertise from people 
of different geographies, backgrounds and disciplines. 
To this end, RANZCO is committed to fostering places of 
work and training where people feel included and valued. 
In 2018-19, the Diversity and Inclusion Committee met to 
discuss issues surrounding bullying and harassment with 
a view to recommending a complaints mechanism that 
would encourage more open reporting of these problems 
at the time they occur. The proposal put forward by the 
Committee was reviewed by the Board and continues to 
be a point of discussion. The Committee also asked the 
College administration to investigate the ramifications of 
reviewing the membership fee structure to accommodate 
Fellows working in a part-time or time-off capacity due 
to family commitments. As well as working to ensure 
statistic reporting continues and a diverse range of imagery 
accompany all RANZCO publications, there were two articles 
in Eye2Eye covering issues of juggling family, work and the 
role of stress from Dr Floyd Gomes B.Com., M.B.B.S., F.R.A.C.G.P., 
M.Med., Executive Coach Atticus Health, Director & Founder 
and the Younger Fellows Group. The Committee also wrapped 
up the Language theme from the 2017-18 year.

RANZCO Museum

Bystander article in Quarter 2 Eye2Eye

21Eye2Eye Quarter 2 2019

?
WHAT IS A BYSTANDER?
A bystander is a person who observes an event or incident 
but is not an active participant. The 2012 report by the 
Australian Human Rights Commission Encourage. Support. Act! 
Bystander Approaches to Sexual Harassment in the Workplace 
defines bystanders as “…individuals who observe an act of 
violence, discrimination, or other problematic behaviour, but 
who are not its direct perpetrator or victim. Rather, bystanders 
are onlookers, spectators or otherwise present in some 
sense. However, in some accounts of bystander intervention, 
the term ‘bystander’ expands to include those who directly 
perpetrate violence.”

One of the areas the RANZCO 2018 Bullying, Harassment 
and Discrimination Survey focussed on was the experience 
of bystanders; those first-hand witnesses to inappropriate 
behaviours. Of the 514 people who completed the survey, 
19% (almost 100 people) witnessed a colleague experiencing 
discrimination, bullying, sexual harassment or harassment 
(DBSH) in the workplace over the past three years and around 
half attempted to intervene when witnessing these incidents. 

The concept of bystanders stems from a study on an 
event that took place in New York in 1964 where a young 
woman, Kitty Genovese, was brutally raped and stabbed 
to death within the span of half an hour. During the attack, 
approximately 38 of Kitty’s neighbours either watched the 
attack from their windows or heard her pleas for help but 
were unwilling or unable to effectively intervene. 

WHAT IS BYSTANDER 
INTERVENTION?
Bystander intervention is when those who witness a 
potentially harmful incident or situation take definitive  
action – either before, during or after the event (as outlined 
on page 22).

BYSTANDER 
INTERVENTION
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Bullying, Discrimination and 
Harassment

 40%
Response rate

(557/1401)

16,425
 Pieces of

quantitive data

 775
 Pieces of narrative

text data

 235
 Personal messages
 from respondents

to RANZCO

YES
In my career
49% (256 respondents) 
answered ‘yes’ to the prevalence 
question, “Have you ever been 
subjected to Discrimination, 
Bullying Sexual Harassment 
or Harassment (DBSH) in the 
workplace?” The 2015 statistic 
was 38%.

In the past three years
22% answered ‘yes’ to having 
experienced DBSH in the past 
three years. This equates to 
115 members. This question 
was introduced into the 2018 
survey, with respondents asked 
to condition their thinking to the 
events of the past three years. 
Bullying ranks the highest at 
16%.

Trainees
Trainees in particular rate the 
prevalence of DBSH significantly 
worse than the full pool of 
respondents.

The bystander
The statistics for bystanders 
observing others experience 
DBSH are very similar to the 
prevalence ratings for those 
who actually experienced 
DBSH over the past three years. 
In about half the cases, the 
bystander chose to intervene.

Reporting rates
Reporting rates for those who 
experience DBSH are low in the 
range of 22% to 29%.

Resolution rates
Resolution rates are also low 
in the range of 6% to 25% 
satisfaction that the behaviour 
has been resolved to the 
respondent’s satisfaction. These 
metrics didn’t improve between 
the 2015 and 2018 survey.

In 2015, the College conducted a survey into the prevalence of bullying, discrimination, harassment 
and sexual harassment. At the time, the Board acknowledged that there was a culture of discrimination, 
bullying and sexual harassment that exists within parts of the ophthalmology profession across both 
Australia and New Zealand. In August 2018, the Board agreed to commission a repeat of the survey. The 
results show a culture of discrimination, bullying and sexual harassment still exists within parts of the 
ophthalmology profession across both Australia and New Zealand. 
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 Unreasonable behaviour
experienced

Age who answered YES 
experienced this behaviour in 

my career

Age who answered YES  
experienced this behaviour in 

the last three years

Age who have observed a 
colleague experience this 
behaviour – the Bystander 

perspective

DBSH 49% 22% 19%

Discrimination 21% 10% 7%

Bullying 37% 16% 15%

Sexual Harassment 12% 3% 3%

Harassment 21% 7% 5%

For the behaviour you experienced in the last three years ... did you report it?

For the behaviour you experienced in the last three years ... has it been resolved to your satisfaction?

I am aware of RANZCO’s initiative on … 

Impact of RANZCO’s Initiatives

Discrimination 
n=51

Discrimination 
n=51

Bullying 
 n=75

Bullying 
 n=73

Sexual Harassment 
n=16

Sexual Harassment 
n=16

Harassment 
n=31

Harassment 
n=30

Yes

No

Not sure

Too little

agree RANZCO’s 
efforts at 
managing DBSH 
are About Right

77%

Too much
Code of conduct 

Bullying, Harassment & 
Discrimination Policy 

Women in Ophthalmology 

Diversity and Inclusion Policy 

Complaints Handling & Process 

92% agree (n=506)

84% agree (n=507)

82% agree (n=504)

74% agree (n=506)

65% agree (n=507)

14%9%

6% 10% 26% 13%13.7% 26% 12.5% 20%

80.4% 64.4% 62.5% 66.7%

RANZCO is making good 
progress on this

RANZCO is giving attention to this but there is 
still a lot of room for improvement

RANZCO is nowhere near getting 
traction on this 

Bullying, Harassment and 
Discrimination Policy 

(n=374)

Complaints Handling & 
Process (n=287)

Code of Conduct 
(n=398)

Diversity and Inclusion 
Policy (n=323)

Women in Ophthalmology 
(n=355)

64% 64%
70%

63% 67%

28% 28% 25%
31% 27%

8% 8% 6% 6% 6%

Yes
22%

Yes
28%

Yes
25%

Yes
29%

No 
78%

No 
72%

No 
75%

No 
71%
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Gender and name-blind CVs for 
selection to reduce gender bias 

and discrimination

Engaging female trainees 
through the Women in 

Ophthalmology Advisory Group

Introduction of supported 
multi-source feedback

Better education of trainers and 
trainees through sessions at the 

annual Congress

Seeking trainee feedback on a 
six-monthly basis

Trainee Representative Group 
undertaking key policy reviews 

and represented on Council

Additional CPD points for 
including diversity elements in 

CPD practice reviews

Established target of 35% 
female representation 
on all committees and 

leadership roles

Changes in the education and 
training space

The efforts RANZCO 
has made to date to 
address this include 
several communications 
and policies aimed at 
influencing change 
and demonstrating 
the need for more to 
be done in this space. 
A presentation of the 
results was done at the 
2018 Congress, as well 
as a concurrent session 
on Unconscious Bias, 
from consultancy firm 
Symmetra. 
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Achieving cultural change requires ongoing and varied 
activity to introduce and gain support for new ideas and 
concepts. RANZCO has engaged and continues to engage 
in a range of activities to embed positive cultural change 
within the College and the profession. 

 J RANZCO promotes cultural competency through 
training resources on the College’s online learning 
management system. These resources are geared 
towards helping Fellows work in a culturally 
sensitive way with Aboriginal, Torres Strait, Māori 
and Pasifika people. These resources have been 
developed by, or in conjunction with, Fellows, 
with further resources being added as they are 
developed. 

 J In line with the new Accredited Training Site 
Policy Framework, RANZCO is seeking to create 
cultural change within the centres of training. 
During accreditation visits, RANZCO staff and 
Fellows take the time to educate hospital staff on 
the expectations of the College and to hear and 
address feedback from Fellows and trainees. 

 J RANZCO has secured access to the Royal 
Australasian College of Surgeons’ Operating with 
Respect learning module and has accredited it 
with CPD points. RANZCO’s partnership with RACS 
is intended to provide continuity in approach and 
expectation, recognising that we can achieve more 
by working collaboratively across the health sector.

 J RANZCO has increased promotion of the RANZCO 
Employee Assistance Program, which is free to use 
for all Fellows, trainees, members, staff and their 
immediate families. 

 J RANZCO seeks to ensure that College 
communication and messaging, including the use of 
imagery, reflects our diverse membership and that 
of the Australian and New Zealand public. 

 J The Māori and Pasifika Health Committee, has 
been formed to ensure issues affecting those 
communities are properly represented in College 
activities. 

 J RANZCO is also developing an Australian 
Reconciliation Action Plan to ensure RANZCO’s 
activities are in line with best practice of culturally 
appropriate medical education. 

 J RANZCO has included more trainees and 
community representatives on key committees 
and on the RANZCO Council to ensure these 
groups’ voices are able to feed into the wide range 
of RANZCO activities. 

 J RANZCO has launched a range of new scholarships 
including: 

 - two delegate passes for members of AIDA to 
attend the RANZCO Congress; 

 - up to 15 delegate passes for ophthalmologists or 
registrars from the Asia Pacific region to attend 
the RANZCO Congress; 

 - Two RANZCO Trevelyan-Smith Australian 
Indigenous Scholarships; 

 - Two RANZCO Trevelyan-Smith Māori/Pasifika 
Scholarships; 

 - Two RANZCO Trevelyan-Smith Undergraduate 
Medical Student Scholarships; and 

 - Two RANZCO Trevelyan-Smith Junior Doctor 
Scholarships. 

 J RANZCO has undertaken data collection around 
linguistic and cultural diversity so that we can 
better understand the diversity of our membership. 

 J RANZCO has made a clear and public commitment 
to flexible work, safe working environments and 
safe work hours through the Accredited Training 
Site Policy Framework. 

 J RANZCO’s position on discrimination, harassment 
and bullying and commitment to diversity and 
inclusion is being communicated on an ongoing 
basis through: 

 - articles in Eye2Eye and social media posts; 

 - addresses from the President at branch scientific 
meetings; 

 - RANZCO Fellows presenting on external panels 
and events; and

 - sessions at the Annual Congress. 

 J RANZCO also seeks to ensure College events 
promote diversity and inclusion by reminding 
convenors of the importance of diverse panels 
and setting criteria for the Annual Congress that 
courses and symposia with geographic and gender 
diversity of speakers will be favoured.

 J Eye2Eye commenced a series on bystander 
intervention in quarter two 2019.
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Code of Conduct
The Code of Conduct is a living document 
that sets the standards of ethical, clinical and 
professional practice all members must abide by. 
The Code is periodically reviewed by the Code of 
Conduct Committee, who also review complaints 
cases referred by RANZCO’s Complaints 
Committee. 

Strategic planning 
Futures Taskforce
Formed in the latter half of 2018, the Futures 
Taskforce comprises Fellows and non-Fellows 
and explores how artificial intelligence will shape 
the future of ophthalmology and other relevant 
professions. They have developed a white paper 
on artificial intelligence and established a 2050 
Working Group to develop a RANZCO strategic 
plan.

Sustainability 
In late 2018, the RANZCO Board approved the 
formation of a new Committee, Chaired by current 
RANZCO Treasurer and Director, Dr Neil Murray. 
The Committee, still in its infancy, has addressed 
the RANZCO Council on ESG Compliance and 
how to incorporate this into strategic planning 
and reporting.

Reconciliation Action Plan 
The RANZCO Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 
was approved by the Board in May 2019 and 
will be submitted to Reconciliation Australia in 
mid 2019. The RAP is a framework that commits 
RANZCO to activities that seek to achieve equity 
in access and health outcomes for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples; that continues to 
build collaborative partnerships with Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples and the health 
sector; that builds on our existing commitment 
to increasing the number of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander ophthalmologists in Australia; and 
that will improve and enhance our organisation’s 
cultural awareness and improve culturally safe 
practices.

IT redesign
Throughout most of 2018-19 the RANZCO staff 
worked to develop a new IT environment for the 
College that includes a new database, Surgical 
Log Book, CPD Diary, member dashboard, 
Committee sites and HR platform for staff. It is 
hoped the new website, which will host these 
new features, will allow for online applications for 
scholarships, HREC submissions, ORIA Grants and 
membership applications.

Member statistics 

Nicholas Toalster 2 July 2018 - VTP

Kristopher Rallah-Baker 9 July 2018 - VTP

Louise Robinson 31 July 2018 - VTP

Yi Wei Goh 13 August 2018 - VTP

David Sia 14 August 2018 - VTP

Dai Ni Danielle Ong 10 September 2018 - VTP

Andrew McAllister 13 September 2018 - VTP

Neil Avery 18 September 2018 - VTP

Richa Sharma 24 September 2018 - VTP

David Woo 2 October 2018 - VTP

Keith Martin 20 October 2018 - VTP

Lindsay McGrath 24 October 2018 - VTP

Samuel Dance 13 November 2018 - VTP

Hanna Clark 13 November 2018 - VTP

Timothy Cheong 1 January 2019 - VTP

Lewis Lam 11 January 2019 - VTP

Mali Okada 21 January 2019 - VTP

Rahul Chakrabarti 11 February 2019 - VTP

Robin Abell 11 February 2019 - VTP

Helen Chan 11 February 2019 - VTP

Richard Parker 11 February 2019 - VTP

Charlotte McKnight 11 February 2019 - VTP

Oliver Lau 11 February 2019 - VTP

Cheefoong Chong 19 February 2019 - VTP

Michael Brown 19 February 2019 - VTP

Li-Anne Lim 19 March 2019 - VTP

Mohammed Ziaei 4 April 2019 - S-IMG

Matthew Spargo 11 April 2019 - VTP

Ethan Nguyen 6 May 2019 - VTP

Katarina Creese 6 May 2019 - S-IMG

Matthew Cranstoun 6 May 2019 - VTP

Nathan Nielsen 13 May 2019 - VTP

Anagha Vaze 21 May 2019 - S-IMG

Andrew Simpson 28 May 2019 - S-IMG

Nicholas Andrew 12 June 2019 - VTP

Prof Keith Martin 
(Fellowship of Eminence)

20 October 2018

Fellows admitted between 
1 July 2018 - 30 June 2019
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Breakdown of 
Membership 
by Fellow type

31% 69%

Fellows Female Male Total
Full Fellows 285 993 1278

Overseas Fellows 9 37 46

Part time 21 45 66

Retired 16 96 112
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3AFFILIATED ORGANISATIONS
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New Zealand Save Sight Society
2019 is a successful year for the New Zealand Save Sight 
Society. One of the major roles of the Society is to fund New 
Zealand ophthalmic research. The grant applications in 2019 
is of very high calibre. These applications were assessed 
externally by the Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia 
(ORIA) for their scientific merits. The Society is able to fund the 
top two grants in 2019 due to sound financial outlook, as listed 
below:

RANZCO/Save Sight Society Grant 

Screening for keratoconus in Down syndrome.
J Mathan, Dr Samantha Simkin, Dr Akilesh Gokul, Prof Dipika Patel, 
Prof Charles McGhee.

Save Sight Society Grant 

Transition zone graft as a treatment for corneal 
endothelial diseases.
J Zhang, Prof Dipika Patel, Prof Charles McGhee.

Another highlight of the Society is its annual conference. This 
year the Society is fortunate to have Jesse Gale (Wellington 
ophthalmologist) as the chair of the conference committee, 
supported by Samantha Simkin (optometrist). The conference 
is themed ‘The Next Wave: What’s on the Horizon for Eye Care?”, 
and is shaping up to be an excellent event.

Looking forward to 2020, there is a provisional plan to host 
the Society conference in Hamilton. Three Hamiltonians 
will form the organizing committee – Mark Fajgenbaum 
(ophthalmologist), Thiyaga Krishnan (ophthalmology Fellow) 
and James McKelvie (ophthalmologist). More details will follow 
later on this year.

2019 is also a year of change for the Society. Leo Sheck has 
taken over as the chairperson for the Society, replacing Dipika 
Patel. Nic Johnston (Invercargill ophthalmologist) replaced 
Shuan Dai as Shuan has moved to Australia. The Society would 
like to acknowledge Dipika and Shuan for their work during 
their time with the Society.

RANZCO New Zealand Fellows may have noticed that there 
is a small donation to Save Sight Society included in their 
RANZCO fellowship subscription invoice. I have discussed 
this with David Andrews, CEO of RANZCO. He explained that 
the RANZCO fellowship subscription has always included a 
contribution to ophthalmic research. For New Zealand Fellows, 
this contribution goes to Save Sight Society, but this has 
not been made clear in the RANZCO fellowship subscription 
invoice. In 2019, auditors required RANZCO to make this 
contribution explicit on the invoice. This does not represent 
any change in the funding structure between RANZCO and 
Save Sight Society.

The Society would not be successful without the support 
from RANZCO and its Fellows, and we are grateful for your 
generosity. We are hopeful that the Society will continue 
to prosper in the future in its role as a funding agency, a 
communicator, and an advocate of New Zealand ophthalmic 
research.   

Leo Sheck
Chairperson, New Zealand Save Sight Society
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Australian Society of 
Ophthalmologists (ASO)
In 2018/19, membership of the ASO continued to climb, 
reflecting the value ophthalmologists derive from the 
work we do. The Association has been active on a range of 
issues impacting the delivery of specialist medical care in 
Australia, from private health insurance and out-of-pocket 
costs through to ophthalmic care standards. 

 Advocacy and campaigns
 J Out-of-pocket costs. The ASO has carved out 

a presence in the national conversation about 
out-of-pocket medical costs. Through our regular 
interactions with the Federal Department of Health 
and the relationships we have built with groups 
such as the Consumers Health Forum Australia, we 
are seeking to bring balance and nuance to the 
misinformed narrative on medical specialists charging 
patients exorbitant fees. An important message 
being communicated by the ASO is the unique cost 
burdens of ophthalmology as a specialty. In October 
2018, the ASO lodged a submission to the Ministerial 
Advisory Committee on Out-of-Pocket Costs 
outlining three gap policy reforms we believe will 
make a genuine difference to out-of-pocket costs:

1. an increase in the surgical co-payment for 
patients;

2. action on differential rebating; and
3. the need to index private health insurance 

rebates.
 J Private health insurance. In July 2018, the ASO 

lodged a submission with the Senate Inquiry into 
Private Health Insurance outlining the reform plan 
detailed above. The ASO continues to promote its 
public education campaign regarding private health 
insurance portability, known as the ‘Switch’ campaign. 
With this campaign, the ASO has led fellow doctor 
groups AMA NSW, COPS, ASOS, ASA & ANZAOMS in 
educating consumers about their ability to switch 
insurers if they aren’t satisfied with the insurance 
policy they are paying for.

 J MBS Review. In August 2018, ASO President Dr 
Peter Sumich presented to the ophthalmology 
panel of the MBS Review Taskforce. He highlighted 
the failure of the MBS to keep pace with CPI over 
more than two decades and the impact this has 
had on out-of-pocket costs for specialist medical 
care. He also addressed cataract surgery fees and 
the long history of funding cuts that have plagued 
the procedure, as well as providing the panel with 
insight on private health insurance rebates and the 
failure of regulatory forces to keep these in-line with 
MBS rebates. With the Review still to hand down its 
report on ophthalmology as a craft group, the ASO 
continues to maintain communication with Federal 
Health Minister Greg Hunt on key issues impacting 
ophthalmologists and their patients within an MBS 
context.

 Events
 J ASO Advocacy and Practice Skills Workshop, 

Adelaide, 17 November 2018 - Helping 
ophthalmologists fine-tune their practices and 
keeping them informed and engaged in medico-
politics from an ophthalmology viewpoint. 

 J ASO Business Skills Expo, Melbourne, 15 & 16 
June 2019 - Delivering tailored business skills and 
practice insights to ophthalmologists throughout 
Australia.

Key achievements for the year
 J ASO membership continues to grow, reflecting the 

strong work we do as a representative organisation 
and lobbying force. In the 2018/19 financial year, 51 
ophthalmologists joined the ASO. 

 J We have strengthened existing relationships 
and forged valuable new connections. Some of 
these include those with the AMA, the Council 
of Procedural Specialists, Australian Society of 
Anaesthetists, Consumers Health Forum, Glaucoma 
Australia, MDF, and Vision 2020.

 J We continue to assist members with issues ranging 
from contracts, succession planning and marketing, 
through to Medicare billing and interpretation, 
communicating with patients, dispute resolution, and 
dealing with private health insurers.

 J Our members are kept up to date on all ASO work 
and key information via our various modes of 
member communication.

Peter Sumich
President, Australian Society of Ophthalmologists
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The Ophthalmic Research 
Institute of Australia (ORIA)
The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia (ORIA) has 
supported significant achievements in eye research in 
2018-2019. Grants to ophthalmologists and trainee 
ophthalmologists and for work done in departments of 
ophthalmology have led to improvements in patient 
outcomes and the discovery of new knowledge for 
all eye diseases. We are delighted that Australia now 
has two ophthalmology departments amongst the 
top 10 in the world, according to the Centre for World 
University Rankings. ORIA board members and grant 
recipients have also been recognised by significant 
awards including Prof David Mackey, Chair of the 
Research Advisory Committee, being made an Officer 
(AO) in the General Division of the Order of Australia for 
services as a clinician scientist and academic.

Support for eye research continues to be critically 
needed as there are many unmet patient needs that 
eye researchers are struggling to find solutions for, 
as the costs of research increase and funds available 
for ophthalmic research are limited. Success in eye 
research through improving patient outcomes critically 
supports the role of ophthalmologists as the leaders in 
eye care. ORIA continues to run the organisation more 
efficiently with the assistance of the RANZCO staff. For 
example, you will notice we are no longer printing an 
annual report, rather it will be available electronically 
and we are increasingly using teleconferencing rather 
than face to face meetings. 

To advocate for eye research, ORIA has made 
submissions to the Medical Research Futures Fund 
(August 2018), the Women in Stem Decadal Plan 
(March 2019) and the National Clinical Quality 
Registry (June 2019). ORIA board members have also 
contributed to the MBS review for Ophthalmology and 
Optometry, with findings from eye research informing 
the processes. ORIA has also attended key events in the 
medical research sector. ORIA activities are reviewed 
to ensure they promote diversity and inclusion and 
for the future, a strategic planning process has begun. 
The ORIA newsletter has been developed and will be 
sent out three times a year to provide updates on our 
activities.

This year, ORIA awarded over $690,357 in grants, with 
14 research projects receiving vital ORIA support 
(including four projects supporting new investigators). 
These projects cover a wide range of important topics 
including artificial intelligence, dengue-virus infection, 
endothelial dystrophy, switchable gene therapy, and UV 
damage to the corneal epithelium.

ORIA grants, both current and historical, couldn’t be 
awarded without the support of our generous donors. 
While all donations, of any amount, are welcomed and 
greatly appreciated, ongoing donations allow ORIA to 
better plan for the future of research funding. This year we 
received new commitments for ongoing funding from 
both the Perth Eye Hospital and the Australian and New 
Zealand Society of Retinal Specialists (ANZSRS). This joins 
our ongoing funding from The Richard and Ina Humbly 
Foundation, the Anselmi Estate, Ivy May Stephenson, the 
Estate of the late Gladys Clare Renesson and the Estate of 
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the late Mary H Tilden whose support named grants each 
year. The RANZCO NSW Branch also donated generously 
this year and a RANZCO NSW Branch named grant was 
awarded. 

The ORIA was fortunate to be granted exclusive rights 
to the images of the great Australian artist Sydney Long. 
He is best known for his art nouveau depictions of the 
Australian landscape with his key works produced during 
the 1890s. This year, a number of permissions were 
granted for these works to be used, works were used, 
thereby allowing eye research to be promoted to a wider 
audience:

 J Pan was used by a Thames & Hudson publication

 J Romance was Born was used by Anna Plunkett et al. 

 J Spirit of the Plains was used by Tamworth Regional 
Gallery in a Catalogue, A century of the Tamworth 
Regional Gallery Collection.

 J Spirit of the Plains to be used for one edition of the 

book War and Peace: Volume One: The 1921-1922 
Melbourne Public Library Mural Competition 

 J Pan was sourced for museum use including its Online 
Collection National Museum of New Zealand, Te Papa 
Tongarewa.

 J The Blue Lagoon was sourced to be used in Calorama 
2020 Australian Art Calendar

Finally, I would like to thank all of our donors, past and 
present, without whom none of ORIA’s important work 
would be possible. Thank you also to the Research 
Committee Chair Prof David Mackey, Treasurer Associate Prof 
Paul Healey, the ORIA Board, the ORIA Research Advisory 
Committee, our volunteer reviewers, the RANZCO staff 
and all ORIA members for their hard work and continued 
support over the year.

Stephanie Watson
Chair, ORIA

Artwork by Sydney Long: Spirit of the Plains

Artwork by Sydney Long: Pan
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Ophthalmology New Zealand 
(ONZ)
2019 has been a year that New Zealand will never 
forget. 2019 has shown the world that New Zealand 
is not unassailable, that our safe green home is 
not untouchable, or as secure as we believe, as all 
countries would like to believe. But it also showed 
the world our compassion, empathy and ability to 
embrace all.

It is difficult to write annual reports that discuss the 
more commercial aspects of ophthalmology in the 
face of the tragedy that occurred in Christchurch in 
March. But the speed with which New Zealanders 
came to the aide of the Muslim community 
throughout the country tells us that our people of all 
cultural and ethnical backgrounds deserve the best 
possible care and attention.

This is why ONZ is still working towards ensuring 
that patients/consumers and their families get 
ophthalmological care that is equal to any in the 
world. 

Our main work this past year, as the year before, is 
working with private health insurers (such as one 
private health monopoly insurer) to ensure that New 
Zealanders (public patients) have the same access 
to high quality care and latest technology as our 
neighbours.

One of the main issues that we have met with our 
insurer, and supplied copious information and details, 
is in regard to glaucoma stents (used for MIGS). 
These stents are now available in the DHB hospitals. 
This same new technology is not available in private 
care by our monopoly insurer despite over 100 peer 
reviewed publications supporting their efficacy and 
safety.

Although ONZ has already noted concerns about 
the same DHBs regarding restricted funding for 
ophthalmology and the ongoing rise in demand for 
these same services.

Another ongoing area of concern is in regard to an 
opaque process around reducing bundled fees for 
private cataract surgery. This is in line with reducing 
use of anaesthetists in private cataract surgery by this 
same monopoly insurer. ONZ continues to discuss 
the issues on a lack of transparency, limitations of 
choice and risk to the patient/consumer on behalf 
of its members. At this stage, there is little to no 
movement on this issue.

On their members’ behalf, ONZ welcomes Dean 
Corbett to the role of ONZ Chair this year, and thanks 
Michael Merriman for the dedication he has shown to 
ONZ for many years. We also welcome Nic Johnston 
onto the board and wish Peter Hadden the best in his 
new role leading the NZ branch of RANZCO. 

Dean Corbett
Chair, ONZ
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Board
President – A/Prof Mark Daniell (until November 2018)

President – Clinical A/Prof Heather Mack (from November 2018)

Vice President – Dr Diana Semmonds (until November 2018)

Vice President – Clinical A/Prof Nitin Verma  
(from November 2018)

Honorary Treasurer – Clinical A/Prof Heather Mack  
(until November 2018)

Honorary Treasurer – Dr Neil Murray (from November 2018)

Censor-in-Chief – Dr Justin Mora

Dr Diana Conrad

Dr Sam Lerts (until November 2018)

Prof Nigel Morlet 

Dr Neil Murray

Dr Grant Raymond 

Dr Christine Younan

Dr Andrew Chang (from November 2018)

Dr Andrew Crawford (from November 2018)

Dr Robert Griffits (from November 2018)

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Chair – A/Prof Heather Mack

A/Prof Mark Daniell

Dr Neil Murray

Dr Grant Raymond

Dr Diana Conrad (from February 2019)

Dr Andrew Chang (from February 2019)

Council
New South Wales
Dr Diana Farlow 

Dr Clare Fraser 

Dr Andrew White 

Dr Alina Zeldovich

Dr Neale Mulligan (from December 2018)

Dr Nisha Sachdev (from December 2018)

Victoria
Dr Lewis Levitz 

Dr Kira Michalova

Dr Leisha Riddington

Dr David van der Straaten 

Dr Jonathan Yeoh

Tasmania
A/Prof Paul McCartney

South Australia
Dr Peter Fleming 

Dr Timothy Gray

Dr Genevieve Oliver (from June 2018)

Western Australia
Dr Jane Khan

Dr Steven Wiffen 

Dr Robert Paul

Queensland
Dr Daniel Black

Dr Oben Candemir

Dr Stephen Godfrey 

Dr Russell Perrin 

New Zealand
Dr Brian Kent-Smith 

Dr Keith Small

Dr Stephen Ng (until May 2019)

Dr Andrea Vincent (from May 2019) 

Appointed
Dr Kenneth Chan (until November 2018)

Dr Chameen Samarawickrama (from November 2018)

Prof John Crompton 
Dr John Kennedy
Prof Peter McCluskey 
Dr Michael Merriman 
Prof ipika Patel (until May 2019)

Dr Leo Sheck (from May 2019)

Dr Antony Bedggood (until May 2019)

Dr William Cunningham (from May 2019)

Dr Esra Sanli (until February 2019)

Dr Mathew Wells (from February 2019)

Dr Peter Sumich
Dr Stephanie Watson 

Ex-Officios
Dr Ashish Agar

Dr Anthony Bennett Hall 

Dr Suhkpal Sandhu

Dr William Cunningham (from May (2019)

Dr Diana Conrad

A/Prof Mark Daniell (until November 2018)

Dr Sam Lerts (until November 2018)

Dr Heather Mack 

Dr Justin Mora 

Prof Nigel Morlet 

Dr Neil Murray

Dr Grant Raymond 

Dr Andrew Chang (from November 2018)

Dr Andrew Crawford (from November 2018)

Dr Robert Griffits (from November 2018)

Dr Diana Semmonds (until November 2018)

Clinical A/Prof Nitin Verma

Dr Christine Younan
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Branches
New South Wales
Chair – Dr Robert Griffits 

Honorary Secretary – Dr Alina Zeldovich 

Honorary Treasurer – Dr Nisha Sachdev

Victoria
Chair – Dr David Van Der Straaten

Honorary Secretary – Dr Xavier Fagan

Honorary Treasurer – Dr Lewis Levitz

Queensland
Chair – Dr Stephen Godfrey 

Honorary Secretary – Dr Mark Chiang 

Honorary Treasurer – Dr Oben Candemir

South Australia
Chair – Dr Mark Chehade

Honorary Secretary and Honorary Treasurer –  
Dr Matthew Little

Western Australia
Chair – Dr Nigel Morlet

Honorary Secretary – Dr David P De La Hunty

Honorary Treasurer – Dr Thomas Cunneen

Tasmania
Chair – A/Prof Paul McCartney 

Honorary Secretary – Dr Andrew Traill 

Honorary Treasurer – Dr Andrew Jones

New Zealand
Chair – Dr Brian Kent-Smith (until May 2019)

Chair – Dr Peter Hadden (from May 2019)

Honorary Secretary and Honorary Treasurer –  
Dr Andrea Vincent (until May 2019))

Honorary Secretary and Honorary Treasurer –  
Dr Kenneth Chan (from May 2018)

Special Interest Groups
Australian and New Zealand Glaucoma Society 
(ANZGS)
Chair – A/Prof Anne Brooks

Australian and New Zealand Society of Retinal 
Specialists (ANZSRS)
Chair – Dr Jennifer Arnold

Australian and New Zealand Cornea Society 
(ANZCS)
Chair – Prof Charles McGhee

Chair – Prof Gerard Sutton

Australia and New Zealand Society of 
Ophthalmic Plastic Surgery (ANZSOPS)
Chair – A/Prof Adam Gajdatsy

Neuro-ophthalmology Society of Australia 
(NOSA)
Chair – Dr John Crompton 

Ocular Oncology Special Interest Group
Chair – Dr Sunil Warrier 

Paediatric Special Interest Group
Chair – A/Prof James Elder

Australian and New Zealand Strabismus Society 
(ANZSS)
Chair – Dr Shuan Dai

Chair – Dr Craig Donaldson

Uveitis Special Interest Group
Chair – Dr Lyndell Lim

Groups
Younger Fellows’ Advisory Group 
Chair – Dr Chameen Samarawickrama (from November 2018

Dr Andrea Ang (until November 2018)

Dr Kenneth Chan

Dr SingPey Chow (from February 2019)

Dr Antony Clark (from February 2019)

Dr Thomas Cunneen (until November 2018)

Dr Narmadai Deva (until November 2018)

Dr Tricia Drew (from February 2019)

Dr Shane Durkin

Dr Jennifer Fan Gaskin 

Dr Jesse Gale

Dr Zoe Gao

Dr Todd Goodwin (until November 2018)

Dr Tanya Karaconji (from February 2019)

Dr Chih-Hung (Nelson) Kuo 

Dr Matthew Little 

Dr Charlotte McKnight (from February 2019)

Dr Nathan Sachdev (until November 2018)

Senior and Retired Fellows’ Group 
Chair – Prof John Crompton

Women in Ophthalmology Advisory Group
Chair – Dr Genevieve Oliver

Dr Madeleine Adams 

Dr Tani Brown

Dr Jayne Camuglia 

Dr Caroline Catt Dr Katie Chen

Dr Elaine Chong 

A/Prof Deb Colville

Prof Helen Danesh-Meyer 

Dr Rosie Dawkins

Dr Zoe Gao
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Dr Vinithra Kumar 

Dr Lyndell Lim

Dr Kerrie Meades 

Dr Michelle Sun 

Dr Andrea Vincent 

Dr Alannah Walsh

Prof Stephanie Watson 

Dr Jaclyn White

Dr Jennifer Tan (until January 2019)

Practice Managers’ Advisory Group
Co-Chair – Mrs Kharissa Cain 

Co-Chair – Mrs Lucy Peters 

Mrs Deborah Boyd

Mrs Michelle De Guia 

Ms Gail Drennan

Mrs Ingrid Durkins

Ms Peggy Ekeledo-Smith 

Mrs Lisa Hartley

Ms Judith Parnell

Mrs Alison Pennington 

Mrs Lara Sullivan

Professors’ Group
Chair – Prof Peter McCluskey

Affiliated Organisations
Australian Society of Ophthalmologists
President – Dr Peter Sumich

Ophthalmology New Zealand
Chair – Dr Michael Merriman

Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia
Chair – Prof Stephanie Watson

Save Sight Society of New Zealand Inc
Chair – Dr Dipika Patel (until May 2019)

Chair – Dr Leo Sheck (from May 2019)

Committees
Qualification and Education Committee (QEC)
Chair – Dr Justin Mora

Dr Andrea Ang 

Dr Andrew Apel 

Dr Kristin Bell

Dr Jacqueline Beltz 

Dr Kathryn Billing

Dr Malcolm Capon (from September 2018)

Dr Kenneth Chan 

Dr Leanne Cheung

Dr Stephen Colley 

A/Prof Max Conway

Prof Glen Gole 

Dr Catherine Green

Dr Timothy Gray

A/Prof I-Van Ho 

Dr Stephen Jones 

A/Prof Geoffrey Lam (until May 2019)

Dr Robert McDonald

Dr Michael Merriman 

Dr Mark Walland (until November 2018)

Dr Robin Meusemann

Dr Maria Moon

Dr Ainsley Morris (until September 2018)

Dr Neil Murray

Dr Constantinos Petsoglou

A/Prof Philip Polkinghorne (from September 2018)

Dr Sukhpal Sandhu

Dr Andrew Thompson

Dr Sunil Warrier 

Dr Matthew Wells (from February 2019)

Curriculum Committee 
Chair – Dr Catherine Green (until May 2019)

Deputy Chair – Dr Justin Mora 

A/Prof Max Conway

Dr Maria Moon

Dr Neil Murray 

Dr Esra Sanli

Dr Andrew Thompson 

Examination Boards 
Ophthalmic Sciences 
Chair – Dr Andrew Thompson 

Optics Subject Leader – Dr Simon Dean

Physiology Subject Leader – Dr Jane Khan

COPEM Subject Leader – Dr Randev Mendis

Anatomy Subject Leader – Dr Kiran Sindhu 

Dr Kayvan Arashvand

Dr Chandrashekar Balachandran 

Dr Paula Berdoukas

Dr Alison Chiu

Dr Jean-Louis De Sousa (until October 2018)

Dr John Dickson (until October 2018)

Dr Edwina Eade

Dr Magdalena Guzowski

Dr James Jabbour (until December 2018)

Dr George Kong

Dr Anne Lee

Dr Patrick Lockie 
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Dr Jed Lusthaus

Prof Paul McMenamin 

Dr Robert Paul 

Dr Vivek Phakey 

Dr Daniel Polya

Dr Mark Saunders 

Dr Daya Sharma 

Dr Shanel Sharma (until August 2018)

Dr Phillipa Sharwood

Dr Simon Skalicky 

Dr Brent Skippen 

Dr Mark Steiner 

Dr Charles Su

Dr Nicholas Toalster

Dr Dzung Vu

Dr Mark Whiting (until October 2018)

Dr Tse Wing Yeung

Community Representative – Mrs Emma Brannigan  
(from October 2018)

Ophthalmic Basic Competencies and 
Knowledge (OBCK)
Chair – Dr Neil Murray
Dr Andrea Ang 
Dr Gayatri Banerjee 
Dr Malcolm Capon
Dr Caroline Catt 
Dr Rajeev Chalasani
Dr Elsie Chan 
A/Prof Celia Chen
Dr Sing-Pey Chow
Dr Michelle Gajus
Dr Jennifer Fan Gaskin 
Dr Tess Huynh
Dr Andrew Kaines
Dr Hema Karthik
Dr Raymond Loh 
Dr Rohan Merani
Dr Nisha Sachdev 
Dr Daya Sharma 
Dr Kiran Sindhu 
Dr Charles Su
Dr Gurmit Uppal
Dr Anton Van Heerden
Dr Nishantha Wijesinghe
Dr Tse Wing Yeung 
Dr Christine Younan
Dr Sophia Zagora 

Community Representative – Mrs Emma Brannigan  
(from October 2018)

Ophthalmic Pathology (OP)
Chair – A/Prof Max Conway 

Dr Svetlana Cherepanoff 

Dr Vivek Chowdhury (until December 2018)

Dr Tom Dodd

Dr Diane Kenwright

Dr Nikhil Kumar

Dr Cesar Salinas-La Rosa

Dr Daniel McKay (from February 2019)

Dr Sureka Thiagalingam

Community Representative – Mr Paul Roberts  
from October 2018)

RANZCO Advanced Clinical Examination (RACE)
Chair – Dr Maria Moon 

Dr Maged Atalla

Dr Joanna Black 

Dr Mark Chehade 

Dr Diana Conrad

Dr Sean Every

Dr Anna Galanopoulos 

Dr Brent Gaskin (from January 2019)

Dr Trevor Gin

Dr Stephen Godfrey (from January 2019)

Dr Fraser Imrie 

Prof Geoffrey Lam 

Dr Mitchell Lawlor (from January 2019)

Dr Peter Meagher

Dr Andrew Narita 

Dr Stephen Ohlrich

Dr David Pendergrast

Dr Rebecca Stack

Dr Simon Taylor (until May 2019)

Dr Tu Tran

Dr Krishna Tumuluri (from January 2019)

Dr Sanjeewa Wickremasinghe

Community Representative – Mr Paul Roberts  
(from October 2018)

Continuing Professional Development (CPD) 
Committee
Chair – Dr Sukhpal Sandhu 

Dr Andrea Ang

Dr Guy Bylsma 

Dr Jason Cassar

Dr Jennifer Fan Gaskin

Dr Jesse Gale 

Dr Aanchal Gupta 

Dr Alok Sharma

Dr Peter Hinchcliffe (from April 2019)
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Australian Specialist International Medical 
Graduate Committee
Chair – Dr Ainsley Morris (until September 2018)

Chair –Dr Malcolm Capon (from September 2018)

Dr Mark Chiang

Dr Joshua Hann 

Dr Susith Kulasekara 

Dr Vicky Lu (from February 2019)

Prof Philip Polkinghorne

Dr Chameen Samarawickrama 

Dr Dania Qatarneh (from February 2019)

Community Representative – Mr John Horner

New Zealand International Medical Graduate 
Committee
Chair – Dr Ainsley Morris (until September 2018)

Chair – A/Prof Philip Polkinghorne (from September 2018)

Dr Neil Aburn (from January 2019)

Dr Sam Kain

Dr Rodney Keillor 

Dr Keith Maslin

Dr Michael Merriman

Dr Bheemanagouda Patil

Trainee Progression Committee
Chair – Dr Stephen Jones 

Dr Stephen Best

Dr Stephanie Young

A/Prof Mei-Ling Tay-Kearney

Selection Board
Chair – Dr Michael Merriman 

Dr Kristin Bell

Dr Kathryn Billing 

Dr Caroline Clarke 

Dr Catherine Green

A/Prof I-Van Ho

Dr Mark Mattiussi 

Prof Peter McCluskey 

Dr Justin Mora

Dr Kristopher Rallah-Baker 

Dr Mei-Ling Tay-Kearney

Community Representative – Mr Jeffrey Cambridge  
(from September 2018)

Trainee Representative Group (until February 2019)

Chair – Dr Esra Sanli 

New Zealand
Dr Reid Ferguson (Basic Rep)

Dr Aaron Wong (Advanced Rep)

Dr Alistair Papali’i-Curtin (Final Year Rep)

Queensland
Dr Angela Richards (Basic Rep)

Dr Tim Beckman (Advanced Rep)

Dr Lee Holland (Final Year Rep)

POW
Dr Nicole Lim (Basic Rep)

Dr Claire Ruan (Advanced Rep)

Dr Jenny Hepschke (Final Year Rep)

WA
Dr John Lam (Basic Rep)

Dr Ben Host/ Dr Pav Gounder (Advanced Rep)

VIC
Dr Shivesh Varma (Basic Rep)

Dr Tom Campbell (Advanced Rep)

Dr Danielle Buck (Final Year Rep)

SA
Dr Melissa Ellis (Basic Rep)

Dr Michelle Sun (Advanced Rep)

SEH
Dr Chris Ovens (Basic Rep)

Dr Luke Northey (Advanced Rep)

Dr Matthew Wells (Final Year Rep)

Training Post Inspectorate Committee 
Chair – Prof Glen Gole

Prof John Crompton 

Dr David Kaufman

Dr Wendy Marshman 

Dr Richard Stawell 

Dr David Tamblyn

A/Prof Mei-Ling Tay-Kearney

Dr Tahira Malik (from November 2018)

Dr Stephen McGovern (from June 2019)

Advocacy and Awareness
Australian and New Zealand Eye Foundation 
(ANZEF)
Chair – Dr John Kennedy 

Dr Stephen Best

Dr Clare Fraser

Dr Eline Whist (from October 2018)

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Eye Health 
Committee
Co-Chair – Dr Ashish Agar

Co-Chair – A/Prof Angus Turner

Dr Kirstin Bell 

Dr J Ben Clark  

Dr Shane Durkin  

Dr Andrew Foster 
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Dr Todd Goodwin 

Dr Robert Griffits

Dr Tim Henderson

Dr Michael Karpa 

Dr Mark Loane

Dr Damien Louis

Dr Rowan Porter 

Dr Kris Rallah-Baker

Dr Hessom Razavi 

Prof Hugh Taylor

Dr Christine Younan

International Development Committee
Chair – Dr Anthony Bennett Hall 

Dr Garry Brian

A/Prof Susan Carden (from 19 November 2018)

A/Prof Deb Colville 

Dr Catherine Green

Dr Justin Mora 

Dr Neil Murray 

Dr Brian Sloan

Dr Sophia Zagora (from 19 November 2018) 

Leadership Development Committee
Chair – Dr Catherine Green

Dr Shenton Chew 

Prof David Mackey

Prof Stephanie Watson 

Dr Christine Younan

Medicare Advisory Committee
Chair – Dr Bradley Horsburgh 
Dr Ashish Agar 
Dr Clayton Barnes
Dr Zoe Gao
A/Prof Alex Hunyor 
A/Prof Heather Mack (from December 2018)

Dr Rohan Merani
Dr Allan Rosenberg
Dr Nisha Sachdev
Dr Michael Steiner 
Dr Peter Sumich
Dr Robyn Troutbeck

Māori and Pasifika Health Committee 
Chair - Dr Antony Bedggood (until 27 May 2019)

Chair - Dr William Cunningham (from 27 May 2019)

Dr Edward Hutchins

Dr Eugene Michael 

Dr Alistair Papali’i-Curtin 

Dr John Rawstron 

Public Health Committee

Chair – Dr Jane Khan 

Dr Joanne Dondey 

Dr John Downie

Dr Edwina Eade 

Dr Shweta Kaushik 

Dr James McAlister

Dr Nathan Sachdev

Dr Shanel Sharma 

Dr Brighu Swamy 

Dr Graham Wilson

Therapeutics Committee 

Chair – A/Prof Andrew Symons 

A/Prof Penelope Allen

Dr Georgia Cleary 

Prof Mark Gillies

A/Prof Michael Goggin

Dr Emily Gregory-Roberts (from March 2019)

Dr Alexandros Ioannidis 

Dr John Males

Dr Keith Ong

Dr Elaine Wong (from March 2019)

Workforce Committee 

Chair – Dr Bradley Horsburgh 

Dr Xavier Fagan

Dr Zoe Gao 

Dr Tim Henderson

Dr Olivia Macvie

Dr Michael Merriman 

Dr Justin Mora

Dr Josephine Richards

Dr Alok Sharma 

Dr Timothy Steele 

Dr Deepa Taranath

Future of Ophthalmology Taskforce 

Dr David Andrews

Dr Weng Onn Chan

Dr Andrew Crawford

Dr Narmadai Deva (from 8 December 2018)

Dr Alex Hewitt

Prof Margaret Otlowski

Dr Chandrashan Perera

Dr Leo Sheck (from 27 June 2019)

A/Prof Peter Van Wijngaarden

Prof Nitin Verma
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Committees – Member Engagement
CEO Journal Editorial Board
Editors-in-Chief: A/Prof Salmaan Al-Qureshi

Professor Robert Casson

Associate Editors: A/Prof Susan Carden

Professor Dennis Lam

Professor Charles McGhee 

Professor Peter Savino 

Section Editors: Glaucoma

A/Prof Anne Brooks

A/Prof Paul Chew

Dr Carlos Gustavo De Moraes 

Prof Stuart Graham

Dr Nathan Kerr

Dr Jonathan Myers

Neuro-Ophthalmology

Prof Peter Savino

Anterior Segment

Dr Jacqueline Beltz 

A/Professor Nick Di Girolamo

Dr Beeran Meghpara 

Dr Jay Meyer 

A/Prof Dipika Patel 

Dr Srinivas Rao

Cataract

A/Prof Chandra Bala

A/Prof Michael Goggin 

A/Prof Tim Roberts 

Visual Sciences

Dr Chandra Balaratnasingam 

A/Prof Nigel Barnett

A/Prof Trevor Sherwin 

Dr John Wood

Paediatrics and Strabismus

A/Prof Susan Carden 

Dr William Good 

Uveitis

Dr Claire Hooper

A/Prof Lyndell Lim 

Dr Christine Younan 

Posterior Segment 

A/Prof Rohan Essex 

A/Prof Jolly Gilhotra 

A/Prof Timothy Lai 

Orbital and Plastics 

Mr Raman Malhotra

Prof Tim Sullivan

Epidemiology

Dr Ching-Yu Cheng 

Dr John Landers 

Dr Cathy McCarty 

Medical Retina

Dr Aman Chandra 

A/Prof Andrew Chang 

Dr Xavier Fagan

A/Prof Samantha Fraser-Bell 

Dr Sanj Wickremasinghe

Genetics

Dr Kathryn Burdon

A/Prof Alex Hewitt 

A/Prof Andrea Vincent 

Ocular Oncology

Dr Ashwin Mallipatna 

Dr Daniel McKay 

Ophthalmic Pharmacotherapy 

Prof Raid Alany

Biostatistics

Dr Greg Gamble

CPD

Dr Sukhpal Singh Sandhu

Managing Editor:

Victoria Cartwright

Local Congress Convenors
Dr Neil Gehling (Adelaide 2018)

Dr Alina Zeldovich (Sydney 2019)

Dr Andrew Chang (Sydney 2019)

Scientific Program Committee – Executive 

Chair – Dr Christine Younan 

Dr Elsie Chan 

Dr Shuan Dai

A/Prof James Elder

A/Prof Samantha Fraser-Bell

Dr Ridia Lim 

Dr Brett O’Donnell

Prof Gerard Sutton 

A/Prof Andrew Symons

Scientific Program Committee – Review Panel
Dr Andrea Ang 

Dr Elsie Chan

Dr Colin Clement 
Dr Amy Cohn
Dr Shuan Dai 
Dr Clare Fraser 
Dr Alex Hewitt
Dr Brett O’Donnell
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Dr Diana Semmonds 
Dr Simon Skalicky
Dr Tim Sullivan 
Dr Mei Hong Tan 
Prof Nitin Verma
Prof Jie Jin Wang 

Committees – Standards
Clinical Standards Committee
Chair – Dr Richard Wolfe

Dr Paul Beaumont

Dr Daniel Polya 

Dr Elaine Wong 

Dr Julian Mazzetti 

Dr Robert Buttery 

Dr Keith Ong

Dr Adrian Fung

Code of Conduct Committee
Chair – Dr Diana Semmonds 

Tim Benson 

Robert Griffits 

Adam Watson 

Patrick Lockie

Arthur Karagiannis 

Complaints Committee
Chair – Nitin Verma  

Laurie Pincott 

Con Moshegov 

John Kennedy 

Grant Raymond 

Jenny Danks 

Human Research Ethics Committee 
Chair – Prof Mark Radford 
Dr Christopher Basten
Dr Colin Chan
Dr Colin Clement
Dr Malvika Gupta
Prof Paul Healey 
Dr Alex BL Hunyor (until November 2018)

Ms Kylie Lloyd
Ms Rosemary MacDougal
Prof Gerard Moore 
Mr Bradley Sheehan
Dr Mei Hong Tan 

 

Professional Standards Committee 

Chair – Dr Alex BL Hunyor (Until November 2018) 

Chair – Ms Donna Glenn (From May 2019)

Ms Elizabeth Donkers 

Dr Michael Fisk

Dr Graham Hay-Smith

Ms Moira McInerney

Dr Timothy Nolan

Dr Richard Smith

Committees – College Activities
Archives and Museum Committee
Chair – Dr David Kaufman 

Mrs Kirsten Campbell 
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Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) Working Group 

Dr Kris Rallah-Baker
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Diversity and Inclusion Committee
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists (“RANZCO” or the “College”) is a company limited 
by guarantee and registered with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission and under the Charitable 
Fundraising Act (NSW).

The College is a member or the Australian Council for International Development (ACFID) and adheres to the ACFID Code 
of Conduct.

The Financial Statements presented include all Branches and Special Interest Groups (SIGs) of the College.

DIRECTORS (RESPONSIBLE ENTITIES)
The following directors were in office at the date of this report:

Dr Diana Conrad
A/Prof Heather Mack
Dr Justin Mora 
A/Prof Andrew Chang
A/Prof Nitin Verma AM 
Dr Neil Murray 
Dr Robert Griffits
Dr Andrew Crawford
Dr Grant Raymond 
Prof Nigel Morlet 
Dr Christine Younan

Company Secretary 
Dr David Andrews
Mrs Alexandra Arancibia-Garcia

Charity street address and principal place of business
94 – 98 Chalmers Street
Surry Hills NSW 2010

Auditor 
Grant Thornton
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

www.grantthornton.com.au 

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Correspondence to: 
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230 
 
T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration  
To the Responsible Entities of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Ophthalmologists  

 

 

 
In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, as 
lead auditor for the audit of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists or the year ended 30 June 
2019, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of any applicable code of 
professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
 
 
 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
James Winter 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

 
Sydney, 17 August 2019 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
  2019  2018 
 Note $ $
Revenue
Membership subscriptions  3,232,841 3,123,151
Education & training fees  2,120,929 1,755,894
Scientific Congress   2,271,152 2,469,910
Investment & interest income  1,071,196 708,461
Scholarships & travel grants  71,764 299,539
Other income from ordinary activities & conferences 729,080 824,397
Eye Surgeons’ Foundation reimbursement  - 11,013
Overseas development 18 190,937 64,096
Bequests and donations 15 197,994 13,602

Total revenue  9,885,893 9,270,063

Expenditure
Employee benefits  2,831,018 3,146,474
Scientific Congress   2,034,103 2,103,637
Eye Surgeons’ Foundation costs 15 162,196 11,013
Education, training & other service expenses  741,235 785,692
Professional fees  155,894 108,894
Depreciation  229,287 241,676
Communications expenses  783,162 281,068
Property costs  204,403 193,433
Travel & accommodation expenses  379,090 277,917
Contribution to the Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia 154,204 154,416
Contribution to the Save Sight Society of New Zealand  18,857 14,036
Donations & Scholarships  339,515 187,121
Printing, publicity & public relations  258,006 318,944
Projects & conference sponsorship  347,670 323,429
Branch expenditure  165,758 184,266
Funds to international programs and program support  188,031 64,096
Realised fair value movements on disposal of investments 18 190,937 193,935
Total expenditure  9,183,366 8,590,047

Surplus from operations  702,527 680,016

Other income from contributions
Contribution of funds- Eye Surgeons’ Foundation  - 
796,175
Contribution of funds – RANZCO Benevolent Fund and   
The Trevelyan-Smith Ophthalmology Trust Fund   158,510 
2,570,732

Net surplus for the year  861,037 4,046,923

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency exchange loss  9,895 (22,927)
Net change in fair value of financial assets  691,047 
672,824
Asset revaluation of Land and Buildings   5,782,717 -

Total other comprehensive income  6,483,659 649,897
Total comprehensive income for the year 7,344.696 4,696,820
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.



RANZCO ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 - 61

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT YEAR ENDED  
30 JUNE 2019

 Notes 2019 2018
  $ $
Assets 
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 3 7,630,229 7,652,559
Receivables 4 638,546 298,971
Prepayments 5 665,170 690,693

Total current assets  8,933,945 8,642,223

Non-current  
Financial assets 6 16,153,392 14,235,083
Property, plant and equipment  7 14,025,331 8,414,609
Inventories 8 20,750 20,750

Total non-current assets  30,199,473 22,670,442

Total assets  39,133,418 31,312,665

Liabilities 
Current
Payables 9 5,525,354 5,078,964
Provisions 10 309,720 280,053

Total current liabilities  5,835,074 5,359,017

Total liabilities  5,835,074 5,359,017

Net assets  33,298,344 25,953,648

Funds
Accumulated funds 13 21,554,755 20,683,823
Reserves  11,743,589 5,269,825

Total funds  33,298,344 25,953,648

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS AS AT YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

 Notes 2019 2018 
  $ $
Operating activities

Receipts from membership, training fees contributions & operations 9,436,902           13,023,135

Proceeds from government for the Specialist Training Program  2,647,069 
2,546,950

Payments for the Specialist Training Program  (2,341,243) (1,478,039)

Payments to suppliers, awardees and employees  (9,360,763) (8,522,496)

Net cash provided by operating activities 12 381,965 5,569,550

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (57,292) (112,745)

Net payments for investments  (1,418,199) (4,315,639)

Investment and interest income received  1,071,196 708,461

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (404,295) (3,719,923)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (22,330) 1,849,627

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  7,652,559 5,802,932

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 3 7,630,229 7,652,559

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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RESPONSIBLE ENTITIES’ DECLARATION
In the opinion of the Responsible Entities (Directors) of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Ophthalmologists:

1. The financial statements and notes of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists are in 
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

a. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the financial 
year ended on that date; and

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Regulation 2013; and

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists 
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors (Responsible Entities):

   

Heather Mack, Director Neil Murray, Director
Sydney, 17th August 2019 Sydney, 17th August 2019 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services  to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Correspondence to: 
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230 
 
T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Ophthalmologists 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College Ophthalmologists (the “Registered 
Entity” or the “College”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the Responsible 
Entities’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the financial report of The Royal Australian and New Zealand College Ophthalmologists has been prepared 
in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (“ACNC Act’), 
including: 

a) Giving a true and fair view of the College’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its financial performance 
for the year then ended;  

b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013; 

c) The financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial result of fundraising appeals of the College for the 
year ended 30 June  2019, in accordance with the requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW); 

d) The financial statements and associated records of the College have been properly kept during the year, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW) and its Regulations; 

e) Money received by the College, as a result of fundraising appeals conducted during the year ended 30 June  
2019, have been accounted for and applied, in all material aspects, in accordance with the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 and its Regulations; and 

f) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the College is able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
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Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Registered Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of the Responsible Entities for the financial report  

The Responsible Entities are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC Act, the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW) and the Charitable 
Fundraising Regulation 2015. This responsibility also includes such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Responsible Entities are responsible for assessing the College’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Responsible Entities either intend to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or they have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Registered Entity’s 
internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Responsible Entities. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Responsible Entities’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Registered Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Registered Entity 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
 
 
 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
James Winter 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

 
Sydney, 17 August 2019 
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